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Chapelfield, Norwich – opened September 2005

25 years
A tribute to Sir Donald Gordon

Sir Donald Gordon, who founded Liberty
International on 24 June 1980, his 50th birthday,
retired as Chairman at the end of June 2005, having
reached his 75th birthday. We are delighted that he
has accepted the position of President for Life of
Liberty International. Sir Donald was knighted in
2005 for services to business and the arts.
He has been an inspiration to us all from the company’s small beginnings to its current status
as a FTSE-100 index constituent and we wish him
a long and happy retirement.

25th Anniversary of Liberty International
Liberty International recorded its 25th anniversary on 24th June 2005. The company’s progress each year from formation
in 1980 is recorded below, by a brief synopsis of the year’s activities and an attached extract from Sir Donald Gordon’s
Chairman’s Statement (1980 to 1985 – extracted from the Directors’ Report).

1980*

1985*

1990

Garsan Limited is formed on 24 June 1980, Donald
Gordon’s 50th birthday, with an initial share capital
of £10,000.

From investor to operator – TransAtlantic makes
a public offer and acquires a controlling stake in
Capital & Counties which remains a listed company.
Total assets more than double to £461 million while
total shareholders’ funds including minority interests
increase by 79 per cent to £331 million.

Notwithstanding the prevailing gloom in the property
market, the opening on 25 October of Lakeside,
Thurrock, the group’s flagship centre, is a spectacular event. At £353 million, Lakeside represents
around a third of overall property assets – the group
remains determined to keep 100 per cent ownership.

Funded entirely by UK bank borrowings, a £20 million
investment is made to acquire 14 per cent of Sun Life,
a UK listed life insurer.

1981*
Garsan changes its name to TransAtlantic Insurance
Holdings Limited. The Sun Life interest is increased
to 21 per cent, funded by bank borrowings now
increased to £30 million.
“Agreement in principle has been concluded whereby the
company will acquire 22,900,000 ordinary shares of 25p
each (29 per cent) in Capital & Counties plc with effect
from 1 January 1982.”

1982*
A 29 per cent interest is acquired in Capital &
Counties by way of a share issue while the Sun Life
interest is increased to 24 per cent and now shows
a revaluation surplus of £23 million on a £37 million
investment. Shareholders’ funds jump to £78 million
– the platform has been rapidly established.
“The issued share capital of the company was increased
from 20,000 ordinary shares of 50p each to 59,036,000
ordinary shares of 50p each at an average premium of
44p per share. 29,056,000 shares were issued to finance
the acquisition of 22,700,000 shares in Capital & Counties
plc, equivalent to 29 per cent of the equity capital of that
company, and the balance of 29,980,000 shares was
issued to capitalise the company adequately in view of the
magnitude of its investment portfolio and the company’s
available loan facilities.”

1983*
Further capital of £32 million is raised by the issue
of 21.5 million shares at 150p per share. Lincoln
National, a life insurer from Fort Wayne, Indiana,
USA, briefly appears on the scene as a 25 per cent
shareholder. Shareholders’ funds jump again to
£145 million and a maiden dividend of 2.8p per share
is declared.
“A significant uplift in the market value of the company’s
investments in both Sun Life and Capital & Counties which
rose in value in the group’s balance sheet by £35 million.”

1984*
Lincoln National departs from the scene as
Liberty Life acquires their interest, restoring its
shareholding to 75 per cent. Further strong capital
appreciation, particularly from the 25 per cent
Sun Life interest, increases shareholders’ funds
to £184 million.
“On 15 December 1984, the company moved to
new head office premises in St Andrew’s House,
40 Broadway, London, where Capital & Counties
also has its head office.”

*Extracts from the Directors’Report. All other quotations are from Sir Donald Gordon’s
Chairman’s Statement for the year.

“The TransAtlantic group will...lend its weight to the
increasing momentum of the development effort [of
Capital & Counties]. This diversified programme has
as its principal focus the provision of shopping centre facilities in the United Kingdom.”

1986
Profit before taxation more than doubles to
£24.4 million and, after further capital raising, shareholders’ funds increase to £519 million. Relations
with Sun Life plummet as TransAtlantic votes down
a Sun Life shareholders’ resolution.
“With major shopping centre developments secured close
to the M25 circuit at Watford and Bromley and a potential
development at Thurrock, we have achieved an unrivalled
position on this unique circular artery which serves the
whole of the Greater London conurbation.”

1987
TransAtlantic lists on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange as London refuses a listing because
Capital & Counties is also listed. The overall group’s
shareholders’ funds reach £751 million following a
major capital raising exercise by Capital & Counties
to finance its development programme.
“Following the events of October 1987, it is difficult to be
convinced that international stock and financial markets
yet reflect the inevitable disruptive effects of correcting the
major imbalances such as the current US budget and
trade deficits. Notwithstanding, I am confident...in the
quality and soundness of our core investments.”

1988
The Lakeside, Thurrock, site is acquired for
£64 million and construction starts. The Sun Life
impasse breaks as an attempted Sun Life alliance
with a French group, UAP, is decisively rejected by
shareholders and two TransAtlantic representatives
join the Sun Life Board.
“By any standards, 1988 must rank as a year of outstanding progress for TransAtlantic. To pass £1 billion in shareholders’ funds and £52 million in profit before taxation in
only TransAtlantic’s ninth year since formation represents
an impressive achievement.”

1989
UK base rates jump from 7.5 per cent in 1988 to
15 per cent in 1989. An accord is signed with UAP
which had acquired by way of on-market purchases
a 25 per cent interest in Sun Life approaching
TransAtlantic’s 29 per cent. The value of the Sun Life
investment jumps from £151 million to £221 million
while the property revaluations are more modest.
“The property industry in the United Kingdom faces a considerable degree of uncertainty over the next few
years...The real value of Thurrock may not be fully recognised until it becomes clear that only a limited number of
out-of-town shopping centres of this size and dominance
are likely to be built in the United Kingdom.”

“After a decade of high real returns on property and equity
assets, the new decade started with a year in which the
business environment became considerably more difficult
and challenging.”

1991
Life insurance activities move centre stage as
TransAtlantic contributes its 29 per cent Sun Life
interest and a further £180 million in cash to
Rockleigh Corporation, a joint venture with UAP,
which successfully offers and takes 100 per cent
ownership of Sun Life. The property market is still
dire and net asset value per share falls 18 per cent.
“The results...demonstrate how much resilience
TransAtlantic has derived from the balance it has achieved
during 1991 between its investment in life insurance and
property and the maintenance of a strong liquid position.”

1992
Full merger with Capital & Counties finally enables
TransAtlantic to obtain a listing on the London Stock
Exchange. The shares begin to rally strongly from
a low of 162p as the property market shows signs
of recovery, although net asset value per share still
drops 12 per cent to 274p.
“I still remain convinced that the conventions of the
so-called “open market valuation process” based
on a best willing seller principle...are particularly inappropriate...for the valuation of high quality, prime located regional
shopping centres.”

1993
After three years of decline, TransAtlantic’s UK property valuations stop falling and instead show
a surplus of 7.6 per cent while Sun Life has an outstanding year growing new business volumes
strongly and increasing its long-term business funds
from £10.9 billion to £15.3 billion. The share price
increases 49 per cent over the year to 355p.
“The property sector now appears finally to have shaken
off the gloom of 1991 and 1992. The prospects for the
next few years look encouraging indeed... TransAtlantic
now appears to have resumed a strong growth phase
after the interruption of the past few years.”

1994

1998

2002

TransAtlantic splits its property activities into
two parts with Capital Shopping Centres (“CSC”)
created as a specialist shopping centre business.
The initial public offering of CSC on the London
Stock Exchange raises £216 million reducing
TransAtlantic’s interest to just below 75 per cent.
The head lease of The Harlequin, Watford, is
acquired for £162 million in a dramatic resolution
of a legal dispute.

Property assets surge through £3 billion with an
overall increase of 12 per cent in market values in
a year when the gross redemption yield on the
20 year UK gilt fell nearly 2 per cent to 4.45 per cent.
A site is acquired in Uxbridge, West London, for a
£150 million shopping centre development while lettings at Braehead reach 96 per cent of income with
a year still to go before opening.

Shareholders’ funds increase to £2.7 billion after
a £177 million (5 per cent) revaluation surplus
and a £158 million capital raising in difficult
market conditions. The extra capital finances a
£157 million investment, increasing ownership of
the Victoria Centre, Nottingham, to 100 per cent.
Contracts are exchanged with Lend Lease to develop Chapelfield, Norwich.

“The prospects for UK property outperforming other
UK asset classes over the forthcoming period seems
strong. This judgement is based on historically high
yields available on property assets relative to other
asset classes...”

“On 23 December 2002, the company recorded the significant milestone of entry into the FTSE-100 index of the
UK’s leading listed companies... Comparison shopping in
attractive destinations continue to be an integral
part of UK lifestyles and, as a core activity, exhibits
strong stability.”

1999

2003

“The life insurance industry as the lifeblood of the nation’s
savings is being put at risk by the negative concerted
efforts of the Government, the media and overzealous regulators…for me, this is a sad reflection as I approach the
end of my career in this great industry.”

1995
Previous years’ negative comments about the
UK life industry prove prophetic as TransAtlantic
sells its Sun Life interest to UAP for £527 million,
a £260 million profit on cost. From the proceeds,
TransAtlantic repurchases 40 million TransAtlantic
shares at 320p per share, a large discount to net
assets. MetroCentre, Gateshead, Europe’s largest
shopping complex, is acquired for £324 million and
contracts are exchanged for CSC’s development
of Braehead, Glasgow.
“It is most gratifying that the long-term shopping centre
investments, in particular Lakeside, Thurrock, undertaken
in the late 1980s are now demonstrating their powerful
potential for growth validating the original concept,
notwithstanding the traumatic early years of the 1990s.”

1996
TransAtlantic changes its name to Liberty
International. CSC shares rise by 69 per cent, the
best performing property share on the London
Stock Exchange and CSC is already the fourth
largest UK property company by market capitalisation. Liberty International net asset value continues
its strong recovery to 445p per share
and total shareholders’ funds pass £2 billion.
“1996 was the year in which our decision, taken in
March 1994, to float the company [CSC] as a separate
entity listed on the London Stock Exchange, with its
own focused management approach and independent
access to capital, was convincingly vindicated.”

1997
Massive revaluation surpluses on Lakeside,
MetroCentre and The Harlequin, Watford,
19 per cent overall for CSC, drive powerful results
as aggregate property assets pass the £2.5 billion
mark. Braehead construction advances for opening
in 1999 with 85 per cent of projected rental income
already committed.
“Shareholders in Liberty International have enjoyed a
rewarding five years since the depths of the property
recession with net assets per share almost doubled
over the five years since 31 December 1992 from 274p
to 525p...giving an average compound total return, including reinvested dividends, over the five year period
of 20 per cent per annum.”

Liberty Life’s interest in Liberty International is
reduced from 74 per cent to around 30 per cent
by way of a distribution in specie to Liberty Life
shareholders with Liberty International obtaining
a listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange.
Braehead opens and proves an immediate operational and financial success. The group
exits its Australian property activities. A further
45 million Liberty International shares are repurchased at a big discount to net asset value,
as property shares languish compared with high flying technology stocks.
“The year involved the successful completion of a major
corporate restructuring with the result that Liberty
International is now an independent company with no
controlling shareholder... In my business experience involving extensive exposure to financial markets for over 40
years, the technology stock market surge in 1999 and into
2000 is the largest bubble I have ever witnessed...”

2000
Over a third of Liberty International’s share capital
is repurchased including the remaining 29 per cent
belonging to former parent, Standard Bank/Liberty
Life, outmanoeuvring a competitor, British Land, to
whom this strategic stake had been conditionally
sold. This drama is followed by a merger with
Capital Shopping Centres to reduce two London listings to one. The year also sees the final exit from
residual financial services activities.
“The millennium year witnessed a continuation of the radical and positive transformation of Liberty International into
a focused, resilient and dynamic property enterprise
through a series of major and connected corporate transactions… the background for a significant re-rating
of UK property is now very promising.”

2001
The Chimes, Uxbridge, opens in March and the
group steadily assembles a significant development
programme including MetroCentre Red Mall,
Oxford and Cardiff. In the US, the group purchases
the Serramonte Center in San Francisco.
The collapse of the US equity bubble and
“9/11” overshadow sentiment.
“Increased interest in real estate can now be detected,
even from investors most dedicated to equities…with
relentless one year, three year and now also five year outperformance of UK equities... We have always believed
that successful property investment is based on steady
long-term compounding of real returns.”

A 21 per cent rise in share price to 682p, as a
£341 million (10 per cent) revaluation surplus
takes aggregate investment properties through
the £5 billion mark and net asset value per share
to 906p. The development programme reaches
£1.3 billion, underpinning the group’s future
growth prospects.
“After a career in the business world now spanning
nearly 50 years, I have decided the time is nearing when
it will be appropriate for me to step down as Chairman of
Liberty International, my one remaining public company
chairmanship...I have considerable confidence in the longterm prospects of the group in which, along with my family,
I have a substantial shareholding of over 21 per cent.”

2004
Lakeside’s modernisation works complete in July
to a very favourable response while the MetroCentre
Red Mall extension opens in October, restoring its
position as Europe’s largest covered shopping centre. Net asset value climbs through the £10 mark to
1017p while the share price rises 42 per cent
to 971p. The annual dividend is increased by 6 per
cent to 26.5p per share – this represents a growth
multiple of some six times in 20 years from the
4.55p per share declared in 1984. Shareholders’
funds reach £3.25 billion.
“2004 ranks as one of Liberty International’s most active
and successful years since its incorporation in 1980, with
strong financial results and the completion of a record
number of important projects and transactions which
have considerably enhanced the positive momentum of
the business...The company has advanced from small
beginnings into a major UK FTSE-100 company, with our
ranking now in the top 75 companies. Over this period,
we have developed a powerful market position in the
UK regional shopping centre industry and have found
that increasing size, far from representing a barrier, has
generated a steady flow of attractive new opportunities
to maintain the company’s momentum.”
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Overview and strategy

Liberty International is a major UK FTSE 100 listed property company,
with shareholders’ funds of £4.2 billion* and property investments of over
£7 billion, of which regional shopping centres amount to over 85 per cent.
The company is engaged in three principal activities:
• Capital Shopping Centres (“CSC”), the leading company in the UK regional
shopping centre industry, owning interests in four major out-of-town
centres; Lakeside, Thurrock; MetroCentre, Gateshead; Braehead, Renfrew,
Glasgow; The Mall, Cribbs Causeway, Bristol; and eight major in-town
regional centres. CSC has a substantial development programme, involving
both new centres, in Cardiff and Oxford, and extensions to existing centres
• Capital & Counties, a successful retail and commercial property business,
increasingly concentrated in Central London, the south-east of England and
California, USA
• Investment activities, where Liberty International looks to use the substantial
capital resources at its disposal to access profitable real estate-related
financial market opportunities
Liberty International aims to produce outstanding long-term returns for
shareholders, through capital and income growth, with a relatively full
dividend distribution policy from recurring income.
The group focuses on premier property assets, particularly shopping centres
and other retail, which have high potential, scarcity value and require active
management and creativity.
*adjusted, diluted
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This Report includes statements that are forward-looking in nature. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of Liberty International PLC to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.
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Highlights

“The impressive 2005 results, my first as Chairman, show
that the company continues to deliver strong growth in
earnings and net assets per share, possesses a very talented
management team and has consolidated yet further its position
as the UK’s leading regional shopping centre business.
Our total property assets have now passed £7 billion and
our £1.2 billion development programme should provide
added impetus to the consistent growth of this outstanding
business which, in terms of increase in net assets per share
and dividend, has produced a 19 per cent total return in
2005 and a compound annual return of over 15 per cent for
the last decade.”
Sir Robert Finch
Chairman
Year ended

31 December
2005

Year ended
31 December
2004
Restated†

Net rental income
Profit before tax, valuation exceptional items*
Profit before tax

+17%
+13%
+16%

£300.1m
£120.9m
£526.9m

£256.3m
£107.0m
£455.1m

Revaluation gains on investment properties
Total properties

+58%
+31%

£565m
£7,070m

£357m
£5,409m

Net assets (diluted, adjusted**)

+16%

£4,180m

£3,607m

Basic earnings per share
Earnings per share (adjusted***)
Dividend per ordinary share
Net assets per share (diluted, adjusted**)

+10%
+10%
+6.6%
+16%

114.8p
29.8p
28.25p
1188p

104.8p
27.1p
26.5p
1025p

† Restated for the effect of adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
* See Analysis of profit before tax in Financial Review
** Adjusted for deferred tax in respect of revaluation surpluses and capital allowances, fair value movements on interest rate hedges, net of tax, and
valuation surpluses on trading properties (see Financial Review), in accordance with UK property industry practice.
***Adjusted for valuation and exceptional items and their tax effect (see note 9), in accordance with UK property industry practice.
Unless otherwise stated, references to net assets per share are to net assets per share (diluted, adjusted) and references to earnings per share are to adjusted
earnings per share.

Notional acquisition costs including stamp duty deducted by the valuers in arriving at the market values of investment properties
on the balance sheet date amount in aggregate to £318 million (2004 – £170 million), equivalent to 90p per Liberty International
share (2004 – 48p). These notional costs assume each asset is sold individually on the open market at that date and take no account
of the structures through which the assets are held within the Liberty International group. In the case of Liberty International, the
purchase and sale of shares is the predominant mode of exchange of ownership and value for shareholders, not the sale of each
underlying individual property. If these notional acquisition costs were added back, net assets (diluted, adjusted) would amount to
£4,498 million (2004 – £3,777 million) and net assets per share (diluted, adjusted) would amount to 1278p (2004 – 1073p) compared
with the reported figure of 1188p (2004 – 1025p).
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Highlights continued

• A year of major expansion with total properties increased by 31 per cent
to £7.1 billion including £5.8 billion of UK regional shopping centres
• £1.1 billion of acquisitions and development expenditure including
3 major regional shopping centres
– Manchester Arndale (joint ownership of 95 per cent)
– The Mall, Cribbs Causeway, Bristol (joint ownership of 66 per cent)
– Chapelfield, Norwich (100 per cent ownership, opened
September 2005)
• Future development programme of £1.2 billion
– St David’s 2, Cardiff
– Westgate, Oxford
– Extensions to and upgrades of existing shopping centres
– Other retail and commercial assets of Capital & Counties
• 98.5 per cent occupancy (UK regional shopping centres)
• 7.7 per cent like-for-like net rental income growth
• Record revaluation gain of £565 million (2004 – £357 million)
• Strong financial position with debt to assets
ratio of 40 per cent
• 19 per cent total return for the year (increase in adjusted
net asset value plus dividends)
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Summary of investment and
development properties
Market Value

Revaluation surplus

Net rental income

2004
£m

2005
£m

£m

Increase

Increase
ex. DAR*

UK regional shopping centres
Lakeside
Braehead
Other M25
Other centres
Like-for-like income**

1,075.2
580.6
899.3
360.5
2,915.6

1,165.3
675.1
989.1
410.6
3,240.1

85.2
95.1
88.3
43.3
311.9

7.9%
16.4%
9.8%
11.8%
10.7%

MetroCentre
Other centres
Like-for-like capital***

875.0
414.4
4,205.0

936.0
494.8
4,670.9

52.6
15.0
379.5

Acquisitions
Redevelopments†
Developments
Total UK regional shopping centres

–
105.2
47.2
4,357.4

1,013.9
125.5
24.2
5,834.5

80.7
6.9
(15.7)
451.4

487.2
7.7
494.9
20.5
153.7
40.3
709.4

566.6
8.9
575.5
42.5
153.4
–
771.4

187.3
55.2
242.5
–
0.4
–
242.9

241.4
64.3
305.7
24.7
–
–
330.4

5,309.7

6,936.3

Other UK properties
Like-for-like income**
Like-for-like capital***
Acquisitions
Redevelopments†
Disposals
Total other UK properties
US properties†††
Like-for-like income**
Like-for-like capital***
Acquisitions
Developments
Disposals
Total US properties
Total investment properties††

2004
£m

2005
£m

Increase

12.4%
21.3%
9.8%
11.8%
13.2%

129.4

140.5

8.5%

6.0%
3.1%
8.8%

6.0%
6.9%
11.0%

180.8

206.0

14.0%

8.6%
5.7%

10.5%
6.0%

8.4%

10.4%

–
6.6
–
187.4

23.5
6.1
–
235.6

25.8%

77.4
1.2
78.6
2.1
(8.5)
–
72.2

15.8%
15.2%
15.8%
5.3%
(5.5)%

16.4%
15.2%
16.3%
5.3%
(2.7)%

10.3%

11.7%

29.4
0.4
29.8
–
14.5
5.7
50.0

30.9
0.6
31.5
0.7
10.3
1.0
43.5

28.1
1.6
29.7
0.1
(0.5)
–
29.3

13.2%
2.6%
10.8%
0.5%

13.4
1.2
14.6
–
–
0.3
14.9

14.0
3.9
17.9
0.1
–
–
18.0

252.3

297.1

17.8%

4.0
256.3

3.0
300.1

17.1%

552.9

Trading properties
Net rental income

9.7%
8.7%

10.5%

5.2%
5.8%

(13.0)%

5.2%
23.0%

19.0%

* Disadvantaged Area Relief (DAR) from Stamp Duty Land Tax was withdrawn in March 2005. Percentage valuation increases after adjusting for the effect
of DAR on opening values are shown where applicable.
** Like-for-like income – Properties which have been owned throughout both periods without significant capital expenditure in either period, so both
income and capital values can be compared on a like-for-like basis.
***Like-for-like capital – Properties which have been owned throughout the current period but not the whole of the prior period, without significant
capital expenditure in the current period, so capital values but not income can be compared on a like-for-like basis.
†

Redevelopments – Properties which have previously been held as completed investment properties which may have been owned throughout the
period but which are undergoing, or have been earmarked for, substantial redevelopment such that capital values or income may have been affected.

††

Reconciliations of Total investment properties and Revaluation surplus shown above to the amounts shown on the Balance sheet and in the Income
statement are included in notes 10 and 2 respectively to the accounts.

†††

Percentage increases for the US have been adjusted for the effect of exchange rates.

Further details on the group’s properties are set out on pages 78 and IBC.
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Summary of investment and development properties
continued

Property analysis by use and type
Market Value

Regional shopping centres and other retail
UK regional shopping centres
UK other retail
US regional shopping centres
US other retail
Total regional shopping centres and other retail
Office
UK business space
US business space
Total office
Total investment properties

Revaluation surplus

2004
£m

2005
£m

% of total
properties

Increase
ex DAR

4,357.4
337.3
104.2
90.8
4,889.7

5,834.5
355.4
131.6
138.3
6,459.8

84.1%
5.1%
1.9%
2.0%
93.1%

10.4%
13.3%
10.9%
8.4%
10.5%

372.1
47.9
420.0

416.0
60.5
476.5

6.0%
0.9%
6.9%

10.4%
10.2%
10.4%

5,309.7

6,936.3

100%

10.5%

Net rental
income
2005
£m

ERV
2005
£m

UK investment property valuation data
Market
Value
2005
£m

UK regional shopping centres
Lakeside
MetroCentre
Braehead
Other M25
Other centres
Like-for-like capital
Acquisitions and redevelopments
Developments
Total UK regional shopping centres
Other UK properties
Central London
Business space outside London
Retail outside London
Like-for-like capital
Acquisitions and redevelopments
Total other UK properties

2004

2005

Passing
rent
2005
£m

1,165.3
936.0
675.1
989.1
905.4
4,670.9
1,139.4
24.2
5,834.5

5.37%
5.43%
5.68%
5.57%
6.03%
5.59%

5.06%
5.16%
5.25%
5.29%
5.56%
5.25%
5.58%

202.4
33.8

206.0
29.6

249.6
67.9

5.31%

236.2

235.6

317.5

288.7
147.7
139.1
575.5
195.9
771.4

6.30%
6.78%
6.66%
6.51%

5.57%
6.23%
5.68%
5.77%
5.76%
5.76%

32.5
10.3
42.8

31.5
12.0
43.5

34.3
18.2
52.5

True equivalent yield

Further definitions
Developments Properties under development and land which have not previously been held as completed investment properties. Changes in the fair value
of developments are dealt with in reserves rather than in the Income Statement.
Disposals Properties which have been sold during the period. Net rental income for 2004 also includes income from properties sold in 2004.
True equivalent yield Effective annual yield to a purchaser of rent receivable quarterly in advance from the assets individually at Market Value after taking
account of notional acquisition costs.
Passing rent The group’s share of contracted annual rents receivable at the balance sheet date. This takes no account of accounting adjustments made in
respect of rent free periods or tenant incentives, the reclassification of certain lease payments as finance charges or any irrecoverable costs and expenses, and
does not include excess turnover rent, additional rent in respect of unsettled rent reviews or sundry income such as from car parks etc. As such passing rent
cannot be directly compared with net rental income shown in the Income Statement.
Net rental income The group’s share of net rents receivable in 2005 as shown in the Income Statement.
ERV (Estimated Rental Value) The external valuers’estimates of the group’s share of the current annual market rent of all lettable space.
Turnover rent Rent partly or wholly linked to tenants’annual sales normally comprising a minimum or base rent plus excess turnover rent.
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Long-term financial record

Earnings, dividends and net asset value per share 1984 to 2005
Net asset value per share

Dividend per share

Adjusted earnings per share
Earnings and dividend per share – pence
35
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Share price history

Share price history since listing in London 30 July 1992

Pence
Closing share price

■ Range of share price during year

Closing net assets per share

Closing

Year ended
net assets
31 December per share

Pence
1,400

1,200

1,000

Closing
share
price

Year’s
high

Year’s
low

1992

274

239.0

244.0

162.0

1993

291

355.0

359.0

237.0

1994

315

329.0

467.0

329.0

1995

375

344.0

371.0

303.0

1996

436

430.5

431.0

328.0

1997

525

472.5

536.5

429.5

1998

589

454.0

620.0

430.0

600

1999

696

458.0

499.0

414.0

2000

796

487.5

547.0

400.5

400

2001

827

483.5

558.5

462.5

2002

862

564.5

626.5

484.0

2003

906

682.5

691.6

523.5

2004

1,025*

970.5

978.0

650.5

2005

1,188*

980.5

1,025.0

913.0

800

200

0
1992

1993

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

*Restated for IFRS

Liberty International PLC 07

Chairman’s statement

Introduction
It is with great pleasure that I present the 2005 annual results,
my first as Chairman.They are an outstanding set of results
and show that the company continues to deliver strong
growth in earnings and net assets per share, possesses a
very talented management team and has consolidated yet
further its position as the UK’s leading regional shopping
centre business.
The legacy bequeathed by Sir Donald Gordon on his
retirement from the Board in the 25th year of Liberty
International was substantial and I am indebted to him for
his friendship and assistance in making the transition such
a seamless exercise. The strong continuing links with his
family both on the Board and in South Africa are also hugely
welcomed by me. I much look forward to the challenges
ahead and to building on the strong platform left us by
Sir Donald.

Our underlying revenue profit showed a 13 per cent increase
from £107 million to £121 million, after extracting from the
Income Statement revaluations of investment properties, the
change in fair value of derivative financial instruments and
exceptional items. Solid growth in like-for-like rental income
and the realisation of some healthy trading profits in the
second half year drove this outcome.
Adjusted net asset value per share increased from 1025p
to 1188p, a total return for the year, taking dividends into
account, of 19 per cent. The unexpected withdrawal in the
first half of the year of disadvantaged area relief from stamp
duty land tax – reduced the total return by some 3.5 per cent.

Net asset value per share would have been further increased
by 90p at 31 December 2005 to 1278p if purchasers’costs,
primarily stamp duty land tax, had not been deducted from
the valuations as required by the RICS Appraisal and
Valuation Standards. This deduction may seem inappropriate,
2005 was another busy and highly successful year with over
for we have no present intention of selling these assets.
£1 billion of investment expenditure and, after a record
Furthermore, since the assets were valued individually, no
revaluation gain of £565 million, an increase in the aggregate recognition was given to the premium which could have
value of our property assets of over 30 per cent to £7.1 billion. been added had the portfolio of shopping centre assets been
The high level of activity continues into 2006 with plans for
valued as a whole. The prime quality of the assets we have
our new projects in Cardiff and Oxford progressing well and assembled in the UK, and their strategic locations, given the
our energetic programme of renewal and remodelling of
planning constraints under which the country operates, could
existing assets continuing unabated. Our overall £1.2 billion
not easily be emulated.
development programme should provide added impetus to
Looking back over the last decade, our compound annual
the consistent growth of business.
return of 15.4 per cent in terms of increase in net assets per
Results for the year ended 31 December 2005
share plus dividends has represented an exceptional outcome
The 2005 results are the first full year results we have
for shareholders. Looking forward, our focus on active
produced in accordance with International Financial
management to generate like-for-like rental income growth,
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and are fully described in the
alertness to the acquisition of prime assets and our active
attached Operating and Financial Review. While the format
development programme to upgrade the quality of our asset
may be unfamiliar, the changes in presentation have no
base bode well.
impact on the cash flows of the business or its present
strategic direction.

Sir Robert Finch, Chairman

Manchester Arndale; the recently opened Northern Extension Phase 1.
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Chairman’s statement continued

Dividends
The directors are recommending a final ordinary dividend
of 15.25p per share payable on 9 May 2006, bringing the
full year’s dividend to 28.25p per share, an increase of
6.6 per cent on 2004, continuing our unbroken track record
over the last decade of annual dividend improvement. The
directors remain committed to a progressive and relatively
full dividend policy which they believe represents a major
attraction for long-term investors.
Valuations
The recent strength of the UK property market, with 2005
another buoyant year for property valuations, has been
caused by a number of factors – considerable international
and institutional demand for product, the substantial drop
in long-term interest rates, the comparative safety of UK
investment when set against the rigours and risks of finding
investment in developing countries and the huge pent-up
demand particularly from the oil rich nations of the
Middle East. Although this competition for product leads
us necessarily to maintain a cautious stance towards new
acquisitions and development opportunities, nevertheless we
remain excited by the prospects for our outstanding business.
Our overall revaluation gain was a record of £565 million
even after the quite unexpected withdrawal of disadvantaged
area relief from stamp duty. The underlying surplus
represents a valuation increase of 10.5 per cent.
Regional shopping centres owned for more than twelve
months contributed a surplus of £380 million (11.0 per cent).
A downwards shift in the equivalent yield applied by the
external valuers from 5.59 per cent to 5.25 per cent provided
some two-thirds of this uplift with the balance of one-third
coming from underlying increases in rental value. Particularly
strong performers were Braehead, Renfrew, Glasgow (opened
September 1999) and The Chimes, Uxbridge (opened March
2001), reflecting respectively the achievement and expectation
of uplifts in rental income from the first round of rent reviews
since opening.

The £1.0 billion regional shopping centre additions in the
year also performed strongly, contributing a surplus of
10.5 per cent before costs. Our acquisition of 50 per cent of
Prudential PLC’s interests in the Manchester Arndale and the
Mall at Cribbs Causeway, Bristol, and associated properties at
an aggregate purchase price of £653 million, has proved an
excellent transaction both in financial terms and in
strengthening our overall position in the UK regional
shopping centre industry. In September, we opened our
newest centre, Chapelfield, Norwich, where we have taken
full freehold ownership for an overall consideration of
£263 million. The centre contributed a first time valuation
surplus of £34 million.
Our UK regional shopping centre interests, at £5.8 billion by
market value, amount to 84 per cent of our total investment
properties. One of the investment attractions of regional
shopping centres is their stability, with historical evidence
indicating a lower level of volatility and obsolescence than
other property asset classes. Of course, in a rapidly rising
market, the converse is that other asset classes, temporarily
at least, can perform more strongly.
The table set out below, provided by one of our valuers, CB
Richard Ellis, gives illustrative representative yields for the
different retail asset classes over the last three year ends:
Nominal Equivalent yield

Prime High Street Shops
Prime Retail Warehouses
Prime Shopping Centres
Secondary Shopping Centres
Source: CB Richard Ellis

Lakeside, Thurrock.

The Mall at Cribbs Causeway.

31 Dec
2003
%

31 Dec
2004
%

31 Dec
2005
%

5.00
5.75
5.75
7.00

4.50
5.00
5.50
6.25

4.00
4.25
5.25
5.85
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Chairman’s statement continued

Over the last two years, prime high street shops and retail
warehouses, mostly driven by the greater accessibility of the
product to investors, have moved to a substantial premium
rating to prime shopping centres, where evidence from
market transactions is much less readily available; the gap
between prime and secondary shopping centres has also
significantly narrowed. By way of illustration, at 31 December
2005, a rental income stream of £4 million would have been
valued (ignoring costs) at £100 million for high street shops,
£94 million for a retail park but only £76 million for a prime
shopping centre. We commented last year that prime
regional shopping centres represented demonstrably good
value against the other retail classes; this year, that
conclusion is even more inescapable.
In fact, if Liberty International’s £5.8 billion of prime
shopping centres were valued in line with prime high street
shops at a nominal equivalent yield of 4.00 per cent, our net
asset value would increase by some £1.7 billion
(approximately 485p per Liberty International share).

The retail industry
2005 saw the UK economy sluggish with a below trend
growth rate of 1.7 per cent. Retail sales were particularly
affected by a range of factors such as weakness in the UK
housing market, and the impact on disposable incomes from
higher prices for fuel and utilities; and higher council and
other taxes. The total value of retail sales was estimated
by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) at £249 billion,
up 1 per cent on 2004. This compares with growth of
4.6 per cent in 2004 and, according to ONS, is the lowest
annual increase since the Second World War.
The ONS year-on-year figure for non-food retail sales
has been disappointing at negative 0.6 per cent compared
with 2004. However, although subdued, the running rate of
sales growth has improved after a stronger December 2005.
In this environment, retailers have faced many challenges –
from price deflation; the growing range of non-food
products sold by the supermarkets; the ever more
demanding consumer; and from the growth of e-tailing.
This last category is of particular interest as established
“bricks and mortar”retailers who have successfully embraced
e-tailing have in many cases discovered a virtuous circle
where the e-tail business produces positive benefits for
their in-store business.

The business of Capital & Counties, concentrating on
London’s West End, non-shopping centre retail and
California, USA, with retail property representing 57 per cent
of its assets, has once again delivered a strong total return
on group capital employed. The Capital & Counties
approach of combining, within carefully defined sectors, active
We have seen several retail casualties during 2005 but in
management, investment, development and trading provides
our centres these units were absorbed, in the main by
the group with greater strategic flexibility and a valuable
expanding UK fashion retailers and new entrants to the UK
complement to the group’s shopping centre activities.
retail market in all use categories. We have also seen the
disappearance of some familiar high street names such as
The overall retail and commercial portfolio of Capital &
Allders, Littlewoods and Allsports but the market absorbed
Counties increased to £1.1 billion after a £102 million
the majority of these units, mainly through acquisitions by
(11.1 per cent) revaluation surplus; excluding impending
redevelopments which had a market value of £153 million at Primark, New Look and J D Sports.
31 December 2005, the surplus on UK properties amounted
to an impressive 16 per cent.

“One of the investment
attractions of regional shopping
centres is their stability, with
historical evidence indicating
a lower level of volatility and
obsolescence than other
property asset classes.”
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Chairman’s statement continued

The winning retailer formats this year have been those
with trusted brands, a strong complementary on-line
presence and those who have focused on their core
customers. CSC has been delighted to work closely with
such retailers to fulfil their space requirements.
Retailer demand
The undoubted success of CSC’s centres and their
pre-eminent position within their localities, together with
our close working relationships with retailers, has continued
to generate sustained levels of demand for all sizes of well
configured space. We have continued to take advantage of
opportunities to refresh the tenant mix of our centres and
respond to retailers’ever-changing space requirements.
Our prime regional centres can never remain in a static
condition. They must continually evolve to meet consumer
needs and retailer demands. Remodelling of space,
upgrading facilities, modernising leisure areas and providing
better restaurant facilities constantly demand our attention,
while changes in tenant mix provide new attractions for
our customers. This active approach is particularly important
in the tough trading environment which became evident
in 2005. Overall, our occupancy level at CSC continues to be
high at 98.5 per cent.
Property industry issues
2005 saw for the first time the Government’s detailed
proposals for the creation of a UK Real Estate Investment
Trust (UK-REIT), a tax transparent vehicle for holding real
estate. Liberty International believes that a thriving property
industry is essential for a successful modern economy – and
the UK property industry should have a vehicle to compete
with the REIT models now well established in the US,
Continental Europe and the Far East.

190 Strand, London WC2.

St. David’s 2, Cardiff (artist’s impression).

Some of the details of the Government’s proposals clearly
require further amendment such as the proposed 10 per cent
shareholding limit and an exceptionally restrictive interest
cover test, while the details of the conversion process,
particularly its tax implications, are still uncertain. I hope that
the Treasury proposals can be further refined to produce a
product which, while not disadvantageous for the Treasury,
will encourage investment into property.
However, a less welcome Government proposal is the
so-called Planning Gain Supplement – another form of
taxation which in my view runs counter to the Government’s
own objectives for the release and development of land,
particularly for the residential sector. It will create a valuation
nightmare and ignores the reality that a planning permission,
the purported value of which will be the basis of the
proposed tax charge, is just one step amongst many towards
the creation of a new development. This would particularly
be the case for the sort of large and complex development
with a long time scale to which CSC commits.
The Government needs to think again, particularly since
simpler proposals are available to provide the infrastructure
that communities require.
Corporate social responsibility
The Corporate Social Responsibility report on page 74
details the progress we have made over several years in
our commitment towards Corporate Social Responsibility.
We have reformed our internal structures, introduced line
responsibility for implementing policy, and introduced
procedures for measuring and curbing emissions and waste.
We have encouraged our shopping centres to work at a local
level with the communities which create our customer base,
particularly focusing on youth, education and crime issues.
At all times, we strive to achieve the appropriate balance
between the best interests of shareholders, employees and
our local communities.
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Directorate changes and management
2005 has seen considerable change at Board level and
within the underlying management structure of CSC.
First of all, of course, the chairmanship has changed but we
shall continue to benefit from Sir Donald Gordon’s huge
knowledge and commitment to Liberty International
through his appointment both as President for Life and as a
consultant to the group.
Secondly, John Abel retired as Managing Director of CSC
and we have welcomed Kay Chaldecott into that role.
Kay has spent her working life to date at CSC. She is
hugely experienced in the retail sector and will bring much
energy to her new role. John Abel’s vast knowledge
of CSC and the retail industry gained through some
30 years at 40 Broadway will fortunately continue to be
available to us as he has agreed to remain on the group
Board as a non-executive and as a member of our Boardappointed Capital Projects Committee, which reviews major
capital expenditure decisions.
At this year’s Annual General Meeting, David Bramson
is intending to step down as one of our independent
non-executive directors but his wise counsel will remain
available to us at the level of the Capital Projects
Committee and he has agreed to take on the role of
chairman of the trustees of the group’s pension fund.
We have made two further appointments to the CSC Board
– namely Caroline Kirby and Martin Ellis. Caroline has
taken on Kay Chaldecott’s former role and will take
responsibility for the investment management of the
CSC portfolio. Martin Ellis will be director responsible
for construction both of new projects and within existing
centres. We are confident both have the necessary expertise
to fulfil their senior positions.
We greatly appreciate the tireless work and assistance given
to the group over the course of many years by John Abel
and David Bramson and I look forward to working with
those newly appointed.

I feel immensely privileged to have been so warmly
welcomed into the group and to be able to witness at first
hand the dedication and effort demonstrated by our
employees at all levels.
Prospects
Regional shopping centres as an asset class remain
extremely resilient to retail market conditions. CSC’s
investment criteria of quality and large scale will become
increasingly important as successful shopping destinations
continue to polarise.
Our considerable programme of activities to extend,
remodel, refresh and reconfigure space at our existing
centres, together with opportunities each year to grow the
contracted income through rent reviews, will continue to
improve the overall business for shareholders, with added
benefits from the prospective development of our major
new projects, in prime and enviable locations. Both the size
of programme of development activity and the timing of
completions give considerable momentum for growth.
Against a retail environment of increased competition, our
quality assets should prove robust.
Capital & Counties provides a valuable complementary
activity to the shopping centre business and is engaged on
a range of substantial and promising initiatives to continue
to provide excellent returns on capital employed.
With this unrivalled portfolio of highly attractive assets, and
a young, able and ambitious management team, we remain
confident of Liberty International’s future prospects.
Sir Robert Finch
Chairman
15 February 2006

“The undoubted success
of CSC’s centres and their
pre-eminent position within
their localities, together with
our close working relationships
with retailers, has continued
to generate sustained levels
of demand for all sizes of well
configured space.”
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Operating review

Introduction
In 2005, Liberty International has successfully extended its
consistent financial track record, reporting both strong
growth in adjusted net asset value per share and steady
adjusted earnings per share progression.

Overall, the year was one of major expansion. Total property
assets increased by over 30 per cent from £5.4 billion to
£7.1 billion with over £1 billion of additions and further
strong upward property revaluations. Our robust financial
position has readily absorbed this expansion with the
year end debt to assets ratio at 40 per cent, a level
We completed a number of major and important transactions
which gives plenty of flexibility to continue our active
in the year, most notable of which were:
development programme.
• the £653 million acquisition of interests in two of the UK’s
The substantial drop in longer-dated UK interest rates in
leading regional shopping centres, Manchester Arndale and
2005 provided a favourable background for the UK property
Cribbs Causeway, Bristol, and associated properties
market. The 10 year gilt yield reduced from 4.5 per cent to
• the opening in September of the new and virtually fully
4.1 per cent in the year while the 30 year gilt finished the
let 530,000 sq. ft. regional shopping centre, Chapelfield,
year yielding just below 4 per cent.
Norwich, where we assumed ownership soon after
In this interest rate environment, property continued to
opening for an overall consideration of £263 million
prove an attractive investment to yield-seeking investors.
• increasing our interest in Eldon Square, Newcastle, from
The total return from UK property for the year, as measured
45 per cent to 60 per cent at a cost of £53 million
by the IPD monthly all-property index, amounted to 18.8 per
contemporaneously with the grant of a new 250 year lease cent, comparable to the 18.9 per cent return in 2004, with
and entering into an agreement with Newcastle City
most of the capital growth of some 12 per cent explained by
Council for the expansion and redevelopment of this
a substantial yield shift. The all-property equivalent yield
top-ranking centre, which has traded very successfully
according to IPD reduced from 6.8 per cent at the end of
since opening in 1976
2004 to a record low of 6.0 per cent at the end of 2005;
compared with 8.8 per cent a decade ago, when long gilt
• progressing our substantial development programme,
yields were considerably higher at 7.7 per cent.
particularly the Northern Extension at Manchester Arndale;
Eldon Square, Newcastle; Cardiff and Oxford; and in the
Our objective is to continue to deliver exceptional long-term
case of Capital & Counties, significant projects at King’s
returns to shareholders through focus on three principal
Reach on London’s South Bank; the Strand, London WC2; components; active management to generate like-for-like
and the Headrow, Leeds
rental income growth and thereby increase underlying
profits; acquisitions of prime assets where these enhance our
• raising £1.2 billion of long term finance through the
strategic position; and an active development programme,
commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”) market
continually upgrading the overall quality of our assets.
and raising additional permanent equity through early
All three of these elements contributed to the positive
conversion of £129 million of the £240 million convertible
outcome of 2005.
bond 2010

David Fischel, Chief Executive

“In 2005, Liberty International
has successfully extended
its consistent financial track
record, reporting both strong
growth in net asset value
per share and steady earnings
per share progression.”
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Operating and financial review continued

Capital Shopping Centres (“CSC”)
Key information on Capital Shopping Centres’
UK regional shopping centres

The acquisition of 50 per cent of Prudential PLC’s interests
in Manchester Arndale and The Mall, Cribbs Causeway,
Bristol and associated properties has provided CSC with
two additional powerful centres. Manchester Arndale, on
• market value of £5.8 billion
completion of the current Northern Extension development,
• 35 per cent increase in 2005 in space under ownership from will be one of the UK’s largest city centre retail destinations
8.3 million sq. ft. to 11.1 million sq. ft.
at 1.4 million sq. ft. and Cribbs Causeway is one of only
eight out-of-town super-regional centres in the UK; four
• 12 completed centres including 9 of the UK’s top 25
of which are now within CSC’s ownership. Phase One of
• an estimated 210 million customer visits per annum with
the Manchester Arndale Northern Extension opened, on
half the UK’s population within a 45 minute drive time
programme, in October, the main event being the opening
of our centres
of Next’s first 150,000 sq. ft. store. Also in October we
assumed 100 per cent ownership of Chapelfield, Norwich,
• 98.5 per cent occupancy by rental value (1,791 units out
for a total consideration of £263 million, excluding the
of 1,828)
residential element, following the centre’s successful opening
• 106 tenancy changes in the year increasing annual rental
in September.
income by £3.8 million
These three new investments at Manchester Arndale, Cribbs
• like-for-like net rental income growth in 2005 of 8.5 per cent Causeway and Norwich all meet CSC’s criteria of large scale
regional shopping centres with good access, car parking and
• net rental income from Braehead, Renfrew, Glasgow,
excellent tenant mix, adding 2.8 million sq. ft. of regional
increased 28 per cent in 2005 after the first round of rent
shopping space. Overall space under CSC’s ownership
reviews since the centre opened in September 1999
increased in the year by 35 per cent from 8.3 million sq. ft.
• rental income growth prospects in the next two years
to 11.1 million sq. ft.
underpinned by five yearly rent reviews on 17 per cent of
Since the end of 1993, when CSC was formed as a standCSC rental income in 2005 and 19 per cent in 2006
alone business, we have increased the group’s prime UK
• £1 billion development programme on new projects and
regional shopping centre interests ten-fold from £576 million
existing assets
to £5.8 billion, in the process carving out market leadership
in this attractive market sector.
Acquisitions in the year
2005 has been a year of tremendous growth for CSC,
Regional shopping centre industry background
increasing our scale from nine completed regional
Regional shopping centres of the quality and scale of those
shopping centres to twelve. CSC now owns nine of the UK’s owned by CSC broadly maintained their market position but
top 25 shopping centres with a good geographical spread
the competition for customers and retail spending in the UK
across the UK. Half the UK’s population lives within
retail property market remains intense. As the boundaries
45 minutes’drive time of one of our centres – an excellent
become increasingly blurred between comparison and
platform for future growth of market share nationally.
convenience shopping, our centres compete not just with
other shopping centres but also with other retail formats,

Kay Chaldecott,
Managing Director of
Capital Shopping Centres

Richard Cable,
Development Director of
Capital Shopping Centres
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particularly superstores and retail parks; we also compete
with other non-retail attractions for our share of overall
customer expenditure. Active property management and
superior customer service aiming to deliver a pleasant
shopper experience have increasingly become fundamental
to the success of our centres.
We have continued to generate sustained levels of demand
for all sizes of well configured space and taken advantage of
opportunities to refresh the tenant mix of our centres and
respond to retailers’ever-changing space requirements.
Department stores continue to progress discussions for new
space and negotiations with major space users have been
dominated by the fashion retailers who have requirements
for our future projects.
As our centres continually evolve to meet consumer needs
and open for longer hours, we have seen an increase in
demand for standard units by quality caterers and restaurants
adding a vibrancy to the malls late into the evening.
These occupiers are responding to both the extended
dwell time of consumers and the increasing proportion of
shopping trips made during the week after working hours.
The pipeline of proposed shopping centre development
in the UK between 2006 and the end of the decade is
considerable with more town centre retail space now
under construction than at any time in the past ten years.
However, little of this additional space is directly competing
with CSC centres and prime centres such as ours in strong
towns or cities continue to improve as retail destinations.
Benefits from our active management approach
The many opportunities we have implemented to refresh the
tenant mix at our centres have continually created something
new to attract consumers. During the year, we have made
106 tenancy changes, excluding development lettings
producing additional annual rental income of
£3.8 million.

Occupancy has continued to run at high levels, amounting to
98.5 per cent by rental value, representing 1,791 units out of
1,828 in aggregate.
The like-for-like growth in net rental income from our
centres in 2005 was £11.1 million, 8.5 per cent, reflecting the
benefits of refreshing the tenant mix and the well planned
and executed rent reviews and lease renewals, particularly at
Braehead, Renfrew. Future like-for-like increases in rental
income are expected in 2006 from the 2005 rent review cycles
at Lakeside and Uxbridge where the first reviews are now
being settled. 2006 also sees significant rent reviews, in
respect of 19 per cent of CSC’s rental income, in particular at
MetroCentre, Gateshead, and The Harlequin, Watford.
Customer service
Consumers have become more selective demanding ‘added
value’; convenience and a broad range of shops have become
priorities in the choice of shopping destination.
Our focus on improvements to customer service and
amenities is relentless, aiming to provide the consumer
with a hassle-free shopping trip, offering something special
and different.
Through our close working relationships with retailers,
we can plan ahead to provide their store size requirements
to enable them to meet consumer demand for choice.
We continue to invest in customer service - creating clean,
safe and bright environments to welcome each member of
the public.
Our partnership approach extends beyond retailers and
consumers to the wider catchment areas in which we
invest, working closely with local authorities and consumer
organisations to incorporate their requirements. These
relationships are important in ensuring our centres provide
full benefit to their communities, including for example
in certain locations educational support through the
sponsorship of retail management and apprenticeship

Growth in CSC gross rental income
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schemes. Embracing local authorities’wider vision for
their towns and cities assists in providing more attractive
destinations, differentiating them from competing locations.
Our CSC Enterprises’business, building on the powerful
marketing opportunity of an estimated 210 million customer
visits each year to our centres, made a meaningful
contribution to revenue in 2005 of £6 million.
Development activities in respect of
completed shopping centres
In order to anticipate and respond to both retailer and
consumer requirements, management constantly focus
on selecting and implementing opportunities to further
improve CSC’s centres; 2005 saw much activity.
At Lakeside, Thurrock, we have continued to enhance the
customer offer. The provision of a roof box has provided
Next with a 63,000 sq. ft. store now trading on three levels,
while taking back the former Allders store has afforded the
opportunity to provide Primark, previously not represented
at Lakeside, with a 60,000 sq. ft. store, soon to be extended
to 90,000 sq. ft.
Full planning consent has now been granted for the final
phase of Lakeside’s refurbishment, the remodelling of the
Pavilion building, which will provide nine new restaurants,
overlooking Alexandra Lake together with additional retail
and leisure uses. All the restaurant space is under offer
and construction is due to commence in the Spring for
completion in Summer 2007.
Our rolling programme of refurbishment at MetroCentre,
Gateshead, has continued successfully, providing new
flooring and improved vertical circulation through the
majority of the malls, due to complete in Autumn 2006.

Major infrastructure works, including new roads, a riverside
walkway and a public park were completed. Construction of
the 460,000 sq. ft. Xscape leisure scheme, a joint venture with
Capital & Regional plc, is progressing well for opening in
Spring 2006. The scheme includes an indoor ski slope, a
multi-screen cinema, bowling and an excellent line-up of
restaurants, cafes and speciality retailers. 71 per cent of
the projected annual income is now committed with a
further 20 per cent under negotiation. We sold 4.3 acres
for showroom and offices in the second half of the year,
recording a trading profit of £1.2 million. In addition,
conditional contracts have been exchanged to sell a further
40 acres of residential land and 2 acres of commercial
land for an hotel. Construction of Riverside, Braehead, a
35,000 sq. ft. office scheme providing small units for sale or
rent, will commence in Summer 2006.
At Eldon Square, Newcastle, enabling works have been
completed for construction to commence this Spring on
the new bus station and 48,000 sq. ft. of retail space in the
north of Eldon Square (“ES North”), due to complete in
2008. Construction work for the second phase, providing
bigger units on Blackettbridge and restaurants overlooking
Old Eldon Square (“ES West”), has commenced on site, with
the new occupiers expected to open for Christmas trade in
2006. 64 per cent of the 22,000 sq. ft. of new space in ES West
is currently under offer. Good progress continues to be made
on the third and largest development, to the south of the
centre (“ES South”), providing 410,000 sq. ft. of retail space
including a new department store. Subject to site assembly,
works are due to commence on site in Autumn 2006 and
retailer interest is very encouraging. Eldon Square, currently
comprising 961,000 sq. ft., will provide 1.3 million sq. ft. of
city centre retail space on completion of the three phases.

At Braehead, Renfrew, Glasgow the phase two development
which involves 165 acres of land adjacent to the
shopping centre made substantial progress in 2005.

“2005 has been a year of
tremendous growth for CSC,
increasing our scale from nine
completed regional shopping
centres to twelve. CSC now
owns nine of the UK’s top
25 shopping centres with a
good geographical spread
across the UK.”
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At The Glades, Bromley, our project to provide an additional
38,000 sq. ft. of retail space through the re-configuration and
integration of recent High Street acquisitions, is programmed
to commence on site in Spring 2006. The first phase will also
provide new and improved customer facilities for the centre.
60 per cent of the new space is under offer.

Progress on New Projects
Significant progress has been made in Cardiff, where the
St David’s Partnership, our joint venture with Land Securities
Group PLC, has secured detailed planning consent for a
967,000 sq. ft. retail-led mixed-use extension to the existing
St David’s Centre.

In Watford, we continue to make good progress on our
mixed use plans for the Charter Place site adjacent to
The Harlequin, where the planning brief has been finalised
and an initial public consultation programme completed.

A Conditional Development Agreement has been exchanged
with Cardiff County Council and the Compulsory Purchase
Order has been published. Enabling works are underway
and a construction start is anticipated in winter 2006 for
completion in autumn 2009. An agreement for lease has
been exchanged with the John Lewis Partnership for a
260,000 sq. ft. department store and discussions are
underway with other major space users.

At the Victoria Centre, Nottingham, the 40,000 sq. ft.
remodelling project converting the lower level of the former
market to prime retail space is complete and fully let.
The new retailers – Top Shop, Monsoon and Republic –
opened ahead of the Christmas trading period.
Following our acquisition in March 2005 of 50 per cent of
the Prudential’s interest in properties at Manchester Arndale
and Cribbs Causeway, initial performance has been very
encouraging with scope for additional initiatives to add
further value to these premium assets. In partnership with
the Prudential, we will commence works to refurbish and
modernise the retail park at Cribbs Causeway in March 2006
with completion programmed for the Autumn prior to
pre-Christmas trading.
At Manchester Arndale, where Prudential is responsible
for delivery of the Northern Extension, works for phases
2 and 3 are on programme which will enable openings in
April and October 2006 respectively. This will complete
the 550,000 sq. ft. extension increasing the whole centre to
1.4 million sq. ft. in total. Some 80 per cent of the new space
is currently committed, reflecting strong retailer demand for
this prime location in the city.

In Oxford, the Westgate Partnership, our joint venture
partnership with La Salle Investment Management,
continues to make progress with agreement now reached
with both Oxford City and County Councils on a transport
solution for our proposed scheme and the wider West End
regeneration area of which Westgate is a vital ingredient.
The detailed design of the proposed retail-led mixed-use
extension to the Westgate Centre is now underway. A further
round of public consultation on the emerging designs has
proved very positive and a detailed planning application for
750,000 sq. ft. of retail anchored by a department store for the
John Lewis Partnership, together with 124 residential units, is
expected to be submitted in spring 2006.

Analysis of other UK and US properties by location and type
Market Value
2004
£m

Other UK properties
Central London
Business space outside London
Retail outside London
Total other UK properties

354.8
170.2
184.4
709.4

US properties
US retail
US business space
Total US properties

195.0
47.9
242.9

Foreign
exchange
2005
£m

23.1
5.7
28.8

Revaluation surplus
Market Value
2005
£m

2005
£m

Increase
ex DAR*

400.3
197.2
173.9
771.4

33.5
23.0
15.7
72.2

10.3%
13.7%
12.8%
11.7%

269.9
60.5
330.4

23.7
5.6
29.3

9.6%
10.2%
9.7%

*Disadvantaged Area Relief (DAR) from Stamp Duty Land Tax was withdrawn in March 2005. The percentage revaluation increase is shown after adjusting for the effect of
DAR on opening values where applicable.
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Capital & Counties
Key information on Capital & Counties
• complementary to regional shopping centre business
• Central London and non-shopping centre retail
• a window to the US market with regional shopping centres
and other retail in California
• mixed-use development skills
• over 6 million sq. ft. of retail and business space
• investment properties at 31 December 2005 £1.1 billion;
30 per cent in USA
• £102 million revaluation surplus in 2005 (11.1 per cent)
• by value, 57 per cent retail, 43 per cent business space
• like-for-like net rental income growth in 2005 of
5.2 per cent
• 2005 trading profits of £10.4 million
• £200 million development programme with 1.6 million
sq. ft. of development and refurbishment under way
or planned
UK
2005 has been dominated by preparation for a number
of major refurbishment and redevelopment projects.
We have also taken advantage of strong investment markets
to make a number of disposals from both the investment
and trading portfolios. Where we have perceived opportunity
to add value, we have been prepared to make purchases,
but without pursuing an aggressive policy in current
market conditions.

Central London
£400 million Market Value
We have seen West End office rental growth of up to 18 per
cent over the year in St James’s and Piccadilly where we have
significant holdings. A rolling programme of upgrading
continued within the multi-let West End and Mid Town
office buildings with work planned in 2006 for 23,000 sq. ft.
of space. Retail rental values have been stable or showed
some marginal growth.
At the year end, offices available to let within our
Central London properties excluding redevelopments
or refurbishments planned or underway amounted to
2 per cent of total floorspace.
Purchasing investments in a very competitive marketplace
within the West End market has become increasingly
difficult.Yields have continued to fall over the year as
investors became convinced of the likelihood of strong
office rental growth. We did however acquire Kendal House,
a 10,150 sq. ft. office and retail building strategically located
at the junction of Regent Street and Conduit Street, for
£8 million.
Significant progress has been made with the refurbishment
and redevelopment programme outside the core West End.
At Hammersmith, regeneration and re-imaging is underway
of the 110,000 sq. ft. office building currently known as
Commonwealth House and to be rebranded as the Metro
Building. Completion of a show suite is expected in May
2006. At Wapping, E1 architects are drawing up creative
plans for contemporary loft-style workspace within the
170,000 sq. ft. riverside Metropolitan Wharf. A planning
application will be made in February 2006.

John Saggers, Managing Director of
Capital & Counties

222 Sutter Street, San Francisco.

Kendal House, Regent Street, London W1.
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As reported at the half year, the London Borough of
Southwark has resolved to grant consent for partial
redevelopment and extension of the King’s Reach complex.
The scheme envisages complete reorganisation of the office,
retail and public realm elements and gross floorspace will
increase by nearly half to almost 400,000 sq. ft. We have also
gained consent from Westminster City Council for the major
redevelopment with our partner, Prudential, of 190 Strand,
WC2. This outstanding design by architects Kohn Pederson
Fox will provide 200,000 sq. ft. of office and retail floorspace
together with 44 apartments.Vacant possession of King’s
Reach and 190 Strand is anticipated within two years.
Business space outside London
£197 million Market Value
In the M25 West area, office market conditions are improving
in Uxbridge where our property, Capital Court, is now fully
let at rents of up to £24 per sq. ft. Slough and Heathrow
markets continue to experience oversupply, though we have
let over 4,000 sq. ft. at Capital Place, Hillingdon for around
£20 per sq. ft.
At Capital Park, Cambridge, an additional 39,000 sq. ft.
office phase has started and is due for completion in the
second half of 2006. As reported at the half year, we continue
to plan for the substantial upgrading of 54 Hagley Road,
Birmingham. Planning consent has now been received for
a major ‘statement’entrance to the building and we are
currently seeking consent for enlargement of the car park.
We also completed refurbishment of 36,000 sq. ft. offices at
Port Solent, Hampshire, following negotiation of a prelet of
the entire building.
Retail outside London
£174 million Market Value
Asset management activities at the Braintree and Stafford
retail parks have continued. We added to our retail
warehouse investments by the acquisition of the 38,000 sq. ft.
Riverside Retail Park in Canterbury for £10.7 million.
Let to Staples, Pets at Home and Land of Leather, this
park benefits from being part of a major cluster of retail
warehousing at the A2/A28 Junction, half a mile south west
of the city centre. A retail warehouse was also acquired in
Rotherham; let to B&Q but with an open A1 retail consent
and expansion potential.
No other retail acquisitions were made and we took
advantage of investment market conditions to sell the long
leasehold interest in the 110,000 sq. ft. Swansea Market retail
scheme for £42.6 million, above book value.
As in Central London, current and prospective projects
continue to dominate. Planning consent was received in
December 2005 for a major conversion and extension of the
mainly vacant former Allders store on the Headrow, Leeds.
The consented scheme includes 120,000 sq. ft. of prime retail
and 150,000 sq. ft. of new offices. An alternative and equally
financially attractive scheme is also being prepared which
would enable us to proceed without gaining possession of
currently occupied offices.

and Primark Manchester department stores. A total of
300,000 sq. ft. could be brought into use. At Manchester, a
scheme is being drawn up to provide about 100,000 sq. ft. of
loft-style workspaces whilst at Liverpool various possibilities
are under consideration including residential and hotel use.
Trading
£54 million Market Value (UK)
We continue to maintain a UK trading portfolio and the
principal sale in 2005 was of an 8 acre site at Junction 15
of the M40, following the receipt of a residential planning
consent, creating a trading profit of £6.4 million. 5.5 acres of
potential commercial development land have been retained.
US
2005 has been a very active year for Capital & Counties
USA Inc.
At Mission Village, Fairfield, planning consent was obtained
for a major superstore in place of the remaining unoccupied
retail units on this 18 acre site, and a sale to WalMart
was concluded. We also sold a parcel of land in central
Pasadena adjacent to our residential and retail development.
Together, these sales created substantial trading profits of
£4.5 million ($8.1 million).
The proceeds of the sales were recycled into the purchase
for $42 million of a 127,000 sq. ft. retail and office building
at Sutter Street, downtown San Francisco. The Senator
office building in Sacramento was refinanced with a new
$38 million loan at 5.3 per cent, effectively repaying our
original equity in the purchase.
In Pasadena, two of the proposed five phases of the ‘Trio’
apartment developments have been completed together with
the pool, gym and amenity areas. We have also leased further
vacant space at the adjoining Sanwa office building, bringing
it to 96 per cent occupancy.
At Serramonte Shopping Centre, improvements and
enhancements continued throughout the year.
The development of areas adjacent to the North entrance
to the scheme was completed and the new ‘gateway ’dining
facility – the ‘Elephant Bar’– was opened. We continue to
work on upgrading tenant mix and completed an important
amendment to an anchor store lease thus opening the way
to further development of the site.
At the Willows Shopping Centre, Concord we secured
planning approval for the redevelopment of 6,800 sq. ft. of
awkwardly arranged vacant space. The resulting 10,800 sq. ft.
unit has been preleased to Pier One.
In 2005, the US company has once again demonstrated the
success of its consistent focus on:
• capital recycling through strategic sales and opportunistic
purchases
• value adding activities
• timely use of leverage

• trading and development
In addition to this, we have started to look at the potential for
In the US, the focus on retail will continue but will not
unutilised space over retailing areas at the Lewis’Liverpool
preclude consideration of other opportunities in 2006.
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Financial review

Accounting issues
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) became
mandatory for all listed companies within the European
Union from 1 January 2005 and the Annual Report
for 2005 has been prepared in compliance with IFRS.
The comparative figures for 2004 have been restated
accordingly and the notes to the accounts contain summary
reconciliations to the previously reported figures.
A more extensive commentary and explanation of the
changes brought about by the transition to IFRS is contained
in a separate document published on 26 July 2005 which is
available in the Report and Accounts section on the
company’s website (www.liberty-international.co.uk).
Income Statement
Analysis of profit before tax
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec
31 Dec
2005
2004
Restated
Increase
£m
£m

Underlying profit before tax
Property trading profits
Profit before tax, valuation
and exceptional items
Gains on revaluation and sale of
investment properties
Movement in fair value of
derivative financial instruments
Exceptional items
Profit before tax

Aidan Smith, Finance Director

8.4%

13.0%

Underlying profit before tax increased by 8.4 per cent to
£109.3 million from £100.8 million reflecting rent reviews
and interest savings, offset in part by the impact of active
management and acquisitions all of which are discussed in
more detail below.
Trading profits of £11.6 million were almost twice the level
achieved in 2004. Overall profit before tax, valuation and
exceptional items therefore increased by 13.0 per cent from
£107.0 million to £120.9 million.
In addition to exceptional items, material items which need
to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence, profit
before tax, under IFRS, includes other items which are
unpredictable by their nature, such as revaluation gains on
investment properties and the movement in fair value of
derivative financial instruments. These items can have a
significant impact on the presentation and interpretation of
the revenue results. In order to compare one period with
another, the results have been analysed above to show the
effect of these items.

109.3
11.6

100.8 Under IFRS, the revaluation movements on investment
6.2 properties, other than on first time developments, are

120.9

107.0

565.5

357.3

(145.8)
(13.7)

(41.4)
32.2

526.9

455.1

presented in the Income statement rather than in the
revaluation reserve. Commentary on this movement is
dealt with below under the section, investment properties.
Also, under IFRS, the fair value of derivative financial
instruments is now included in the Balance sheet and the
movement in fair value of derivative financial instruments
is included in the Income statement. This change creates
considerable volatility in the Income statement and has
particular significance for Liberty International because of
our chosen method of financing which employs a small
proportion of fixed rate finance but uses derivative financial
instruments to fix interest rates on the more flexible floating
rate funding which forms the greater proportion of our debt.
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This gives the group the desired certainty over future cash
flows combined with a debt structure which enables early
repayment without necessarily incurring the significant
penalties that can be associated with the early repayment
of fixed rate debt. For example, the separation of the fixed
and floating elements in this way enabled us to benefit
from reduced margins, through the early refinancing of
non-recourse facilities secured on our major shopping
centres, in a way which would not have been possible had
the original financing been on a fixed rate basis.
We have not adopted the hedge accounting treatment for
interest rate derivatives with the result that these derivative
financial instruments are accounted for at fair value with
movements in fair value shown in the Income statement.
This differs from the treatment of fixed rate debt where fair
value has no impact on the Balance sheet or the Income
statement even though the cash flows from both types of
financing should be broadly similar.
Over the period to 31 December 2005, interest rates in
general fell and in particular the 10-year sterling interest rate
swap, which represents a suitable benchmark for the group’s
fixed rate obligations, decreased from 4.86 per cent to
4.45 per cent. As a result the fair value of the group’s
derivative financial instruments, which are outlined in more
detail below under Maturity and Interest Rate Profile of debt,
declined by £145.8 million and this movement has been
reported in the Income statement.
The fair value of financial instruments is extremely sensitive
to movements in interest rates. An increase of around
0.80 per cent in swap rates would be sufficient to eliminate
the £281 million negative fair value shown in the Balance
sheet at 31 December 2005 while such a rise in interest rates
would have a minimal impact on the group’s financing
cash flows.

Exceptional items in the period to 31 December 2005
primarily comprised the costs associated with the early
conversion of £129 million convertible bonds into 16 million
ordinary shares plus the unamortised costs of the original
MetroCentre and Braehead bank facilities which were written
off when these facilities were repaid earlier in the period.
Further commentary on the impact of the financings is
included below under the section interest payable.
Profit before tax increased to £526.9 million from
£455.1 million, largely as a result of the substantial increase
in the revaluation gain on investment properties.
Net rental income increased to £300.1 million from
£256.3 million. The increase has two components,
like-for-like growth and acquisitions net of disposals.
Overall the like-for-like growth, calculated in respect
of 58 per cent of properties by value, amounted to
£13.2 million (7.7 per cent).
UK regional shopping centres provided like-for-like growth
of £11.1 million (8.5 per cent) primarily from the favourable
rent reviews at Braehead. A further £14.1 million increase
in net rental income came from centres where there had
been substantial capital expenditure in 2004, notably the
addition of the Red Mall at MetroCentre and the increased
interest in The Potteries, Stoke-on-Trent. Acquisitions in 2005
accounted for a further £23.5 million of the total increase.
Other UK properties contributed 5.2 per cent like-for-like
growth. However, the effect of property sales and
management decisions to forgo short-term revenue for
medium and longer-term refurbishment or redevelopment
opportunities led to an overall reduction in net rental
income of £6.5 million.
The US properties also showed like-for-like growth of
5.2 per cent with capital expenditure in the previous period,
net of disposals, resulting in an overall 19.0 per cent increase
in net rental income.

“In the year, we raised
£1.2 billion of long-term finance
through the commercial
mortgage-backed securities
(“CMBS”) market and additional
permanent equity through early
conversion of £129 million
of convertible bonds into
16.1 million ordinary shares”
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Other income decreased marginally to £14.2 million from
£15.1 million reflecting a near doubling of property trading
profits to £11.6 million but with a reduced level of investment
income as a result of the disposal of the interest in Great
Portland Estates and other investments during 2004.
Interest payable increased to £171.7 million from
£147.5 million. Together with a reduction in interest
receivable from £10.3 million to £7.5 million, this reflects the
increase in net debt during the period less the benefit from
the savings resulting from the refinancings referred to below.
The increase in interest payable reflects expenditure on
property acquisitions both in the latter part of 2004 and
more significantly in 2005 the acquisition from Prudential of
interests in Manchester Arndale and The Mall at Cribbs
Causeway and, more recently, the completion of Chapelfield,
Norwich and an increased interest in Eldon Square,
Newcastle.
In the second half of 2004 and the first half of 2005,
Liberty International undertook three major non-recourse
refinancings, effectively replacing secured bank loans with
commercial mortgage backed securities, gaining the
advantage of capital markets pricing while retaining the
flexibility of a bank loan. The combined savings from
the £650 million seven-year Lakeside facility in August 2004
and the £532 million 10-year facility secured on MetroCentre
in February 2005 amounted to around £6 million per annum.
The third major financing, in May 2005, involved Braehead
and The Harlequin, Watford raising on a 10-year basis a
combined £640 million excluding the higher coupon bonds
retained by Liberty International. The net proceeds of this
financing, after repaying other facilities, amounted to
£468 million and provided the bulk of the resources for
the £653 million purchases from Prudential, with the
balance of the purchase price satisfied from cash resources.
The rate achieved on the Braehead and Harlequin financing
of 5.30 per cent before costs, but including hedging
arrangements, is marginally above the initial running yield
of around 5 per cent on the properties acquired.
The movement in net debt and available facilities is
commented upon further under the Financial Management
heading.
The underlying tax charge, before valuation and exceptional
items and before deferred tax on capital allowances
amounted to 21.3 per cent (2004 – 19.8 per cent). The low tax
charge was primarily attributable to the benefit of capital
allowances and tax relief for capitalised interest, both of
which should continue to be of benefit in 2006 as a result of
the active development programme. Provision for tax on
valuation and exceptional items and deferred tax in respect of
capital allowances increased the group’s reported tax charge
to 30.5 per cent (2004 – 27.0 per cent).

Basic earnings per share increased to 114.8p from 104.8p.
Earnings per share (adjusted) increased by 10 per cent to
29.8p from 27.1p.
The final dividend per share increased to 15.25p per share
making a total dividend for the period of 28.25p, an increase
of 6.6 per cent in line with our policy of distributing
substantially all of the group’s underlying net income. Under
IFRS no provision is made for dividends declared after the
balance sheet date.
Balance sheet
Net assets per share

£m

As at
31 Dec
2004
Restated
£m

Basic net asset value
Effect of dilution:
On conversion of bonds
On exercise of options

2,933.1

2,534.2

105.4
17.9

220.9
27.7

Diluted net asset value
Adjustments:
Fair value of derivative financial
instruments (net of tax)
Deferred tax on revaluation surpluses
Deferred tax on capital allowances
Unrecognised surplus on trading
properties (net of tax)

3,056.4

2,782.8

194.4
817.4
95.7

92.6
653.8
76.2

16.4

2.0

Diluted adjusted net asset value

4,180.3

3,607.4

875p
1188p

799p
1025p

335.4m
352.0m

317.3m
352.1m

As at
31 Dec
2005

Basic net assets per share
(from IFRS balance sheet)
Net assets per share (diluted, adjusted)
Basic shares in issue used for calculation
Diluted shares used for calculation
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Analysis of movement in investment properties
Net assets per share (diluted, adjusted) is arrived at after
adding back the IAS 12 provision for deferred tax on property
revaluation surpluses and the adjustment in respect of fair
value of derivative financial instruments.
Investment properties at 31 December 2004
Two further potential adjustments are often made in order to
arrive at the UK industry measure referred to as triple net
assets per share. First is the adjustment for the fair value of
all financial instruments, not just derivatives. The fair value
adjustment for non-derivative financial instruments (note 20)
amounts to 27p per share after tax (31 December 2004 – 23p)
and the adjustment for derivative financial instruments
equates to 55p per share after tax (31 December 2004 – 26p).
This number is of course extremely sensitive to interest rates
and, as referred to above, would be eliminated by a rise of
around 0.80 per cent in the ten-year interest rate swap.

£m

Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange and other movements
Valuation surplus on investments properties
Valuation deficit on new developments

5,298
1,102
(40)
30
563
(15)

Investment properties at 31 December 2005

6,938

The net valuation surplus arising in the period to
31 December 2005 amounted to £547.2 million, of which
a £562.9 million surplus was dealt with in the Income
Statement together with the £2.6 million gain on sales and
The second potential adjustment is the provision for deferred the £15.7 million deficit on valuation of developments was
tax which, calculated on a disposal basis (note 6) rather than dealt with in the revaluation reserve. Under IFRS, investment
the basis reported under IFRS, would amount to £642 million properties under development or redevelopment are revalued
(31 December 2004 – £505 million) or 182p per share
to fair value.
(31 December 2004 – 143p). However, this amount is
Net assets increased to £2,933 million from £2,534 million.
undiscounted and takes no account of the savings that
Net assets (diluted, adjusted) increased to £4,180 million
may be available depending on how sales are structured.
from £3,607 million and net assets per share (diluted,
The sum of the above potential adjustments is 264p at
adjusted) increased to 1188p from 1025p, mostly as a result
31 December 2005 (31 December 2004 – 192p).
of the valuation surpluses arising during the period and the
underlying profit for the period.
Investment properties increased to £6,938 million from
£5,298 million at December 2004. Additions amounted to
Investment properties are valued after deducting notional
£1,102 million, comprising primarily the acquisition of
acquisition costs including stamp duty amounting in
Manchester Arndale, The Mall at Cribbs Causeway and
aggregate to £318 million (31 December 2004 – £170 million),
Chapelfield, Norwich together with expenditure on
equivalent to 90p per Liberty International share
development and refurbishment activity across the portfolio. (31 December 2004 – 48p). These notional costs assume each
The movements during the period are summarised in the
asset is sold individually on the open market at that date and
table below.
take no account of the structures through which the assets
are held within the Liberty International group.

Financial strength – debt and gross assets 1984 to 2005
£m
7,000

n Shareholders’ funds

n Gross debt

n IFRS valuation and tax provisions

Net debt/fixed assets %

Debt/gross assets %
70

6,000

60

5,000

50

4,000

40

3,000

30

2,000

20

1,000

10

0

0
1988

1993

1998

2003

2004 2005
IFRS IFRS
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In the case of Liberty International, the purchase and sale of
shares is the predominant mode of exchange of ownership
and value for shareholders, not the sale of each underlying
individual property. If these notional acquisition costs
were added back, net assets (diluted, adjusted) would
amount to £4,498 million (2004 – £3,777 million) and net
assets per share (diluted, adjusted) would amount to 1278p
(2004 – 1073p) compared with the reported figure of 1188p
(2004 – 1025p).
Financial Management
Movement in net debt and bank facilities
Cash balances reduced by £368 million from £439 million at
31 December 2004 to £71 million at 31 December 2005 while
gross borrowings increased by £604 million to £2,984 million.
The increase in gross borrowings is largely explained by the
£640 million net proceeds of the new Braehead and
Harlequin facilities. The resulting movement in net debt
during the period is broadly explained by the table below.
Analysis of movement in net debt
Net debt
£m

Opening net debt (note 17)
Additions to investment properties
Disposals of investment properties
Conversion of bonds
Other
Closing net debt (note 17)

At 31 December 2005 the group had committed undrawn
medium-term bank facilities of £405 million which in part
provide stand-by cover for short-term loans of £152 million.
Available facilities have been increased by a further
£90 million since the year end.
On 8 December 2005 Liberty International announced an
offer of £60 per £1,000 to holders of 3.95% Convertible Bonds
who exercised their option to convert into the ordinary shares
of Liberty International at the rate of 125 shares per £1,000 of
bonds. Acceptances were received in respect of £128.7
million of bonds resulting in the issue of 16.1 million
ordinary shares and a reduction in net debt of £108 million
(after costs and expenses of £8.4 million). The early
conversion brought an improvement in the group’s financial
ratios, reduced the risk associated with the potential early
repayment of the bonds in 2007, albeit that in current
circumstances this possibility seems remote, and the
premium paid represented only a small proportion of the
premium received from the original issue. The additional
permanent share capital and reduced debt provide an
improved capital structure from which to pursue the
development programme.

1,941
1,102
(43)
(116)
29

Financial Ratios
The group’s main internal constraints are that, at currently
prevailing property yields and interest rates, interest cover,
measured before valuation and exceptional items and
adjusting for the amortisation of convertible debt, should be
maintained at a level in excess of 1.6 times and debt to assets
2,913
at less than 50 per cent. On these measures, interest cover
reduced to around 1.7 times (2004 – 1.8 times) and the ratio
of net debt to assets increased to 40 per cent from 36 per
cent, in each case within the group’s internal constraints.

“Our financial position is strong
with interest cover of over
1.7 times and the ratio of net
debt to assets of 40 per cent,
in each case within the group’s
internal constraints and at a
level which gives plenty of
flexibility to continue our active
development programme.”
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Maturity and interest rate profile of debt
The group’s policy is to eliminate substantially all exposure
to short and medium-term interest rate fluctuations in order
to reduce the variability of cash flows. During the period
short-term interest rates in the UK reduced from 4.75 per
cent to 4.50 per cent. However, the market in longer-term
sterling swaps reflected expectations for interest rates to fall
further and the 10-year sterling interest rate swap declined
by over 0.40 per cent to 4.45 per cent over the same period.
The table below summarises the interest rate swaps in place
at 15 February 2006 compared with 31 December 2005 and
31 December 2004. The level of fixed rate protection was
increased during 2005 and in early 2006, across all maturities
including extending protection beyond the current maturity
of existing floating rate facilities. The larger part of the
increase resulted from the hedging undertaken to cover the
debt incurred for the £653 million acquisition of shopping
centre interests from Prudential, with further hedging
undertaken in respect of the committed element of the
development programme. The average swap rate across all
periods was reduced.

Over the next ten years substantially all interest payments,
including those in respect of debt which is expected to arise
as a result of committed capital expenditure, are at fixed
rates. However, as the potential developments become more
probable capital commitments, the level of hedging will
be addressed in line with the group’s interest rate
hedging policy.
The weighted average maturity of debt is eight years, the
weighted average lease maturity nine years and the weighted
average interest cost of group debt at 31 December 2005 was
6.1 per cent (5.8 per cent excluding the £230 million of
Capital and Counties’ First Mortgage Debenture Stocks 2021
and 2027 which were issued in a different interest rate
environment in the late 1980s and early 1990s).
15 February 2006

Interest rate swap summary
Notional principal
Outstanding after:

1 year
5 years
10 years
15 years
20 years or more

Average rate

15 Feb 2006
£m

31 Dec 2005
£m

31 Dec 2004
£m

15 Feb 2006
%

31 Dec 2005
%

31 Dec 2004
%

2,462
2,909
1,950
1,475
1,475

2,462
3,125
1,780
1,175
1,175

1,744
2,111
1,235
900
900

5.36
5.22
4.76
4.65
4.65

5.36
5.29
4.97
4.86
4.86

5.64
5.68
5.22
5.00
5.00

Maturity and interest rate profile of debt as at 31 December 2005
£m
4,500

n Unmatured debt

n Unutilised facilities

% Fixed

Proportion fixed (updated to 15 February 2006)

140
4,000
120

3,500
3,000

100

2,500

80

2,000
60
1,500
40
1,000
20

500
0

0
2005

2010

2015

2020

2025

2030
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Chairman and
Executive Directors
01 Sir Robert Finch *‡
Chairman Age 61
Appointed a non-executive Director on 7 February 2005 and
appointed Chairman on 1 July 2005. Qualified as a solicitor in
1969 when he joined Linklaters and was elected a partner in
1974 and head of Real Estate in 1997 until he stepped down
to assume a civic appointment (ending in November 2004).
He was elected Alderman of the City of London in 1992,
Sheriff in 1999 and served as Lord Mayor of London in
2003/4. Amongst other positions, he was appointed a Church
Commissioner in 2000.
02 David Fischel
Chief Executive Age 47
Joined Liberty International in 1985, appointed Finance
Director in 1988, Managing Director in 1992 and Chief
Executive in March 2001.
03 Aidan Smith
Finance Director Age 46
Joined Liberty International in 1986. Appointed Financial
Controller in 1990 and Finance Director in 1998.

04 Richard Cable
Development Director of Capital Shopping Centres
Age 46
Joined the Liberty International group in 1988, appointed a
Director of Capital Shopping Centres in 2000 and appointed
to the Liberty International Board on 7 February 2005.
Responsible for shopping centre development.
05 Kay Chaldecott
Managing Director of Capital Shopping Centres Age 43
Joined the Liberty International group in 1984, appointed a
Director of Capital Shopping Centres in 2000 and appointed
to the Liberty International Board on 7 February 2005.
Appointed as Managing Director of Capital Shopping
Centres on 1 October 2005.
06 John Saggers
Managing Director of Capital & Counties Age 59
Joined the group in 1973. Appointed a Director of Capital &
Counties in 1985 and Managing Director in 1994. Appointed
a Director of Liberty International in 1999.
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Executive management and
Non-executive Directors
Executive management

Non-executive Directors

01 Peter Barton
Operations Director of Capital Shopping Centres. Age 46
Appointed a Director of Capital Shopping Centres in 2004. Previously Trading
Director at Safeway and prior to that nearly 20 years within Marks & Spencer plc,
latterly as Buying Group Director.

01 John Abel Age 61
Joined the Liberty International Group in 1972 and appointed Executive Director
in 2000. Appointed as a Director of Capital Shopping Centres in 1994 and
Managing Director in 2001. Retired as Managing Director of Capital Shopping
Centres on 30 September 2005 but continued as a non-executive Director of Liberty
International PLC.

02 Bill Black
Director of Capital & Counties. Age 55
Appointed a Director of Capital & Counties in 1994. Joined the group in 1984.
Responsible for Capital & Counties’ UK properties.
03 Martin Ellis
Director of Capital Shopping Centres. Age 41
Worked for the group from 1990 to 1993 and rejoined in 2000. Appointed a Director
of Capital Shopping Centres on 1 October 2005. Responsible for construction.
04 Caroline Kirby
Director of Capital Shopping Centres. Age 37
Joined the group in 1992. Appointed a Director of Capital Shopping Centres
on 1 October 2005. Responsible for the investment management of the shopping
centre portfolio.
05 Gary Marcuccilli
Director of Capital & Counties. Age 46
Appointed a Director of Capital & Counties in 1999, having joined the group
in 1987. Responsible for new business and development of Capital & Counties
in the UK.
06 Turner Newton
President of Capital & Counties U.S.A. Inc. Age 52
Joined the group as Senior Vice President and Director of Capital & Counties U.S.A.
in 1986. Appointed Chief Executive of Capital & Counties U.S.A. in 1994.
07 Susan Folger
Group Company Secretary. Age 46
Joined Liberty International as Group Company Secretary in 2000.

02 David Bramson Age 64
Appointed a non-executive Director in 2001. Senior Partner of Nabarro Nathanson
from 1995 until his retirement in 2001, he is now a consultant to the firm.
Mr Bramson is retiring from the Board at the 2006 Annual General Meeting.
03 Robin Buchanan *†‡ Age 53
Appointed a non-executive Director in 1997. Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. UK Senior Partner and Director of Bain & Company Inc., the global
business consultants. A non-executive Director of Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc.
04 Patrick Burgess MBE *†‡ Age 61
Appointed a non-executive Director in 2001. Chairman of the Audit Committee.
A Partner of law firm Jones Day until 2004 and now a consultant to that firm.
Non-executive Director of First Technology PLC and some large private companies.
05 Graeme Gordon Age 42
Appointed a non-executive Director in 1996. A non-executive Director
of Capital & Counties.
06 Ian Henderson CBE † Age 62
Appointed a non-executive Director on 7 February 2005. Formerly Chief Executive
of Land Securities PLC. He has been widely involved in industry matters, including
being a Past President of British Property Federation.
07 Lesley James CBE †‡ Age 56
Appointed a non-executive Director in 2004. Formerly Human Resources Director of
Tesco plc. Non-executive Director of Alpha Airports Group plc, West Bromwich
Building Society and Care UK plc.

08 Hugh Ford
General Corporate Counsel. Age 38
Appointed General Corporate Counsel to the Liberty International Group in 2003.

08 Michael Rapp Age 70
Appointed a non-executive Director in 1986. Chairman of CSC and C&C Capital
Projects Committees. Many years of experience both in the UK and internationally
in the shopping centre and commercial property industry.

* Member of the Audit Committee
† Member of the Remuneration Committee
‡ Member of the Nomination and Review Committee

09 Rob Rowley Age 56
Appointed a non-executive Director in 2004. Executive Deputy Chairman of Cable
& Wireless plc and a non-executive Director of Prudential plc. Chairs the Audit
Committee at Prudential plc. Early career was at Reuters Group plc from 1978 to
2001, a Director from 1990 to 2001.
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Directors’ report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005.
Principal activities
The principal activity of Liberty International PLC (“Liberty
International”) is that of an investment holding company incorporated
in the United Kingdom whose business is the making of selected
investments with long-term potential in the property sector
predominantly, but not exclusively, in the United Kingdom.
Liberty International’s activities are focussed on its two major operating
businesses: Capital Shopping Centres (“CSC”), which specialises in the
ownership, management and development of regional shopping centres
and Capital & Counties, which engages in commercial and retail property
investment, management and development both in the United Kingdom
and the USA.
Business review
The Chairman’s statement on pages 7 to 11 and the Operating and
Financial Review on pages 12 to 24 provide detailed information relating
to the group, the operation and development of the business and the
results and financial position for the year ended 31 December 2005.
Future prospects
Future prospects are dealt with in the Chairman’s statement and
Operating and Financial Review.
Dividends
The Directors declared an interim ordinary dividend of 13.0p (2004 –
12.4p) per share on 28 July 2005, which was paid on 6 September 2005,
and have recommended a final ordinary dividend of 15.25p per share
(2004 – 14.1p) which will be paid on 9 May 2006 to shareholders on the
register on the Record Date, 21 April 2006. The sterling/rand conversion
rate on which payment of the dividend in South Africa will be calculated
will be fixed on 3 April 2006. The Directors will not be offering a share
dividend alternative to the 2005 final cash dividend.
Share capital
Details of the changes during the year in the issued share capital are set
out in note 23 on page 50.
Going concern
After making enquiries, the Directors have reasonable expectation
that the company and the group have adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason
they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.
Internal control
The statement on corporate governance on pages 66 to 69 includes
the Board’s assessment following a review of internal controls and
consideration of the guidance issued by the Turnbull Committee
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales.
Directors
Sir Donald Gordon retired as Chairman on 30 June 2005. Sir Donald was
appointed as President for Life of the company with effect from 1 July
2005 and also as a consultant to Liberty International.
Sir Robert Finch was appointed as a non-executive Director on 7 February
2005, and was appointed Chairman with effect from 1 July 2005.
Mr I.J. Henderson was appointed as a non-executive Director on
7 February 2005.
Mrs K.E. Chaldecott and Mr R.M. Cable were each appointed Executive
Directors of Liberty International PLC on 7 February 2005.
Mr J.G. Abel retired as Managing Director of Capital Shopping Centres
PLC on 30 September 2005. Mr Abel has remained on the Board of
Liberty International as a non-executive Director.
Mr M. Rapp, having served as a non-executive Director for more than
nine years, retires annually in accordance with the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance issued by the Financial Reporting Council.
Mr G.J. Gordon will have served for nine years at the date of the 2006

Annual General Meeting and accordingly he is also now required to retire
annually. Mr Rapp and Mr G.J. Gordon, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the company.
Messrs Fischel, Saggers and Buchanan fall to retire by rotation in
accordance with the company’s Articles of Association. Messrs Fischel,
Saggers and Buchanan, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the company.
Mr D. Bramson will be retiring at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and will not be seeking re-election.
Biographies of the Directors of Liberty International are set out on pages
25 and 26.
Directors’ interests
The interests of the Directors and their families in shares in the company
and its subsidiaries during the year are set out in note 37 to the accounts
on pages 55 to 58.
Substantial shareholdings
At 7 February 2006 Liberty International had 12,409 shareholders and
had been notified under the provisions of the Companies Act 1985 of the
following substantial interests:
Sir Donald Gordon has an interest, including a non-beneficial interest
held by The Donald Gordon Foundation, in 38,497,310 (11.40 per cent)
ordinary shares of Liberty International. Mrs W.D. Appelbaum has a
beneficial interest in 20,350,000 (6.02 per cent) ordinary shares of Liberty
International. Mr R.M. Gordon has a beneficial interest in 10,710,526
(3.17 per cent) ordinary shares of Liberty International.
The above interests of Sir Donald Gordon, Mrs Appelbaum and
Mr R.M. Gordon plus interests of other members of the Gordon family
have been disclosed under the Rules governing the Substantial
Acquisition of Shares as a combined total of 71,044,727 (21.03 per cent)
ordinary shares of Liberty International.
Other substantial interests in the ordinary shares of Liberty International
have been notified by Old Mutual plc, who held 13,305,803 shares
(3.94 per cent), Liberty Group Limited who held a beneficial interest
in 15,774,854 shares (4.67 per cent), Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP, who
held 10,305,989 shares (3.05 per cent) and Legal & General Investment
Management Limited, who held 11,606,111 shares (3.44 per cent).
Employees
The majority of employees are employed by CSC and Capital & Counties.
Liberty International actively encourages employee involvement and
consultation and places emphasis on keeping its employees informed
of the company’s activities and financial performance by such means as
employee briefings and publication to all staff of relevant information and
corporate announcements. The annual bonus scheme and share incentive
plan help develop employees’ interest in the company’s performance; full
details of these arrangements are given in the Directors’ remuneration
report on pages 70 to 73. Note 38 on pages 58 to 60 contains details of
conditional awards of shares under the annual bonus scheme and share
incentive plan currently outstanding, as well as outstanding options.
Liberty International operates a non-discriminatory employment policy
and full and fair consideration is given to applications for employment
from the disabled where they have the appropriate skills and abilities
and to the continued employment of staff who become disabled.
Liberty International encourages the continuous development and
training of its employees and the provision of equal opportunities for
the training and career development of disabled employees.
Information relating to employees is given in Note 38 on pages 58 to 60.
During 2005 CSC undertook an operational review which resulted in a
decision to continue the group’s policy of outsourcing the shopping centre
operations, including the transfer of relevant employees, under TUPE, to
specialist providers. The outsourcing exercise is expected to be completed
in 2006 and will result in the number of staff directly employed by the
group reducing from 833 at 31 December 2005 to approximately 330.
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Directors’ report continued

The Liberty International group provides retirement benefits for the
majority of its employees. Details of the group pension arrangements are
set out in note 39 on pages 61 to 63.
The environment
The group has adopted a Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) strategy
and copies of the booklet which describes the policy and the group’s aims
are available on request, either via the company’s website or by contacting
the Company Secretary’s office. A summary of the group’s CSR activity is
printed on page 74.
The company recognises the importance of minimising the adverse
impact on the environment of its operations – particularly through its
two operating businesses, CSC and Capital & Counties – and the
management of energy consumption and waste recycling.

Creditor payment policy
The company’s current policy concerning the payment of the majority of
its trade creditors is to follow the CBI’s Prompt Payers Code (copies are
available from the CBI, Centre Point, 103 New Oxford Street, London
WC1A 1DU). For other suppliers, the company’s policy is to: (a) settle the
terms of payment with those suppliers when agreeing the terms of each
transaction; (b) ensure that those suppliers are made aware of the terms
of payment by inclusion of the relevant terms in contracts; and (c) pay in
accordance with its contractual and other legal obligations. The payment
policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies
of goods and services without exception. Wherever possible, UK
subsidiaries follow the same policy and overseas subsidiaries are
encouraged to adopt similar policies, by applying local best practices.

The company strives continuously to improve its environmental
performance. The environmental management system is regularly
reviewed to ensure that the company maintains its commitment to
environmental matters.

The ratio, expressed in days, between the amounts invoiced to the
company by its suppliers in the year ended 31 December 2005 and the
amounts owed to its creditors as at 31 December 2005 was nil days
(2004 – nil days), as calculated in accordance with the requirements of
the Companies Act.

Donations
During the year, the group made charitable donations amounting to
£143,000 (2004 – £111,750). No political donations were made in the year.

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the
company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

In addition, the UK shopping centres provided the equivalent of £500,000
in community support, including sponsorship of local causes, support for
Town Centre management and provision of free mall space and services.

Annual General Meeting
The notice convening the 2006 Annual General Meeting of the company
is distributed separately with the Annual Report to shareholders.
By Order of the Board
S. Folger
Secretary
15 February 2006

Statement of Directors’
responsibilities
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the company and the group and of the profit or loss of the group for
that period. In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are
required to:
(a) select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
(b) make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
(c) state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and
(d) prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the group will continue in business.
The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements.
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial
position of the company and the group and to enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are

responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.
A copy of the financial statements of the company is placed on the Liberty
International PLC website. The maintenance and integrity of the website
is the responsibility of the Directors and the work carried out by the
auditors does not involve consideration of these matters. Accordingly, the
auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred
to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the
website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.
By Order of the Board
S. Folger
Secretary
15 February 2006
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Independent auditors’ report

To the shareholders of Liberty International PLC
We have audited the group and parent company financial statements
(the ‘’financial statements’’) of Liberty International PLC for the year
ended 31 December 2005 which comprise the group income statement,
the group and parent company balance sheets, the group and parent
company statements of cash flow, the group and parent company
statements of recognised income and expense and the related notes.
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the
Directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the statement
of Directors’ responsibilities.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be
audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to
be audited.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited in accordance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has
been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed
by our prior consent in writing.
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give
a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’
report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the company
has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions
is not disclosed.
We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects
the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules
of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not.
We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider
whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. The other
information comprises only the Directors’ report, the unaudited part of the
Directors’ remuneration report, the Chairman’s statement, the Operating
and financial review, the Corporate governance statement and the other
items included in the contents section. We consider the implications for
our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not
extend to any other information.

Opinion
In our opinion:
• the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the
group’s affairs as at 31 December 2005 and of its profit and cash flows
for the year then ended;
• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state
of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2005 and cash flows
for the year then ended; and
• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration
report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
15 February 2006
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Consolidated income
statement for the year ended
31 December 2005
2004
Restated*
£m

Notes

2005
£m

1

434.3

392.7

Rental income
Rental expenses

417.1
(117.0)

367.5
(111.2)

Net rental income
Other income
Gain on revaluation and sale of investment properties

300.1
14.2
565.5

256.3
15.1
357.3

879.8
(29.2)

628.7
(27.2)

850.6
–

601.5
35.6

850.6

637.1

(171.7)
7.5
(13.7)
(145.8)

(147.5)
10.3
(3.4)
(41.4)

Net finance costs

(323.7)

(182.0)

Profit before tax

526.9

455.1

Revenue

2

Administration expenses
Operating profit before exceptional items
Exceptional profit on disposal of fixed asset investments

1
3

Operating profit
Interest payable
Interest receivable
Exceptional finance costs
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments

4
4

Current tax on ordinary items
Deferred tax on ordinary items
Tax on exceptional items

6

(25.5)
(139.8)
4.7

(24.4)
(96.4)
(2.2)

Taxation charge

6

(160.6)

(123.0)

366.3

332.1

Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders

Basic earnings per share

9

114.8p

104.8p

Diluted earnings per share

9

107.4p

98.3p

Weighted average number of shares

9

319.0m

317.0m

*Restated for the effect of adopting IFRS (see note 40).
Adjusted earnings per share are shown in note 9.
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Balance sheets
as at 31 December 2005

Notes

Group
2005
£m

Group
2004
Restated*
£m

Company
2005
£m

Company
2004
Restated*
£m

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Development properties

10
10

6,913.6
24.2

5,250.4
47.2

–
–

–
–

Plant and equipment
Investment in group companies
Trade and other receivables

11
12
14

6,937.8
0.6
–
65.7

5,297.6
1.3
–
59.3

–
–
2,092.8
2.5

–
–
2,113.2
2.1

7,004.1

5,358.2

2,095.3

2,115.3

132.6
78.7
3.0
70.8

111.9
80.5
–
438.8

–
562.0
–
–

–
223.0
–
–

285.1

631.2

562.0

223.0

7,289.2

5,989.4

2,657.3

2,338.3

Current assets
Trading properties
Trade and other receivables
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents

13
14
15

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Tax liabilities
Borrowings, including finance leases
Derivative financial instruments

(212.4)
(10.0)
(173.5)
(21.6)

(190.3)
(23.8)
(13.2)
(12.9)

(127.6)
–
–
–

(125.6)
–
–
–

(417.5)

(240.2)

(127.6)

(125.6)

(2,810.2) (2,366.3)
(259.5)
(121.8)
(856.2)
(708.9)
(6.8)
(17.2)
(5.9)
(0.8)

(105.4)
–
–
(1.8)
(1.1)

(220.9)
–
–
(0.6)
(0.8)

(3,938.6) (3,215.0)

(108.3)

(222.3)

Total liabilities

(4,356.1) (3,455.2)

(235.9)

(347.9)

Net assets

2,933.1

2,534.2

168.9
653.5
(13.2)
9.1
(289.7)
547.9
1,856.6

160.8
168.9
529.4
653.5
(23.3)
(13.2)
19.6
9.1
(277.8)
85.3
547.9
61.5
1,577.6 1,456.3

160.8
529.4
(23.3)
19.6
86.3
61.5
1,156.1

2,933.1

2,534.2

1,990.4

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings, including finance leases
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred tax provision
Other provisions
Other payables

Equity
Called up ordinary share capital
Share premium account
Treasury shares
Convertible bond reserve
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity

16
17

17
21
22

23
23
24
26
27
28
25

*Restated for the effect of adopting IFRS (see note 40).
These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 15 February 2006.
D.A. Fischel
Chief Executive

A.C. Smith
Finance Director

2,421.4

2,421.4

1,990.4
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Statements of recognised
income and expense
Group
2005
£m

Group
2004
£m

Profit for the period
Net exchange translation differences and other
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes
Deficit on revaluation of development properties
Tax on items taken directly to equity
Transfers to income statement on disposal of investments
Tax on items transferred from equity

366.3
(0.1)
(2.6)
(15.7)
5.5
–
–

332.1
(2.9)
(0.4)
–
0.1
(6.6)
1.1

388.6
(1.3)
(2.6)
–
0.8
–
–

118.5
0.3
(0.4)
–
0.1
(6.6)
–

Total recognised income and expense for the period

353.4

323.4

385.5

111.9

For consolidated summary of changes in equity please see note 29.

Company
2005
£m

Company
2004
£m
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Statements of cash flow

Group
2005
£m

Group
2004
Restated*
£m

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit before exceptional items
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Unrealised net revaluation gains on investment properties
Profit on sale of investment properties
Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of lease incentives and other direct costs

850.6

601.5

(562.9)
(2.6)
0.8
(4.6)

Cash flows from operations before changes in working capital
Change in trade and other receivables
Change in trading properties
Change in current asset investments
Change in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Interest received
Tax paid
Cash flows from operating activities

Company
2005
£m

Company
2004
Restated*
£m

384.8

79.9

(340.3)
(17.0)
0.5
4.3

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

281.3
(24.2)
(18.1)
(3.0)
17.1

249.0
(8.6)
(30.1)
–
15.9

384.8
(339.1)
–
–
37.1

253.1
(168.2)
9.7
(24.5)

226.2
(140.8)
10.3
(18.3)

82.8
(1.7)
10.1
–

126.7
–
8.5
–

70.1

77.4

91.2

135.2

79.9
293.1
0.6
–
(246.9)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase and development of property
Sale of property
Purchase of investments and other fixed assets
Sale of investments
Purchase of interests in joint ventures and subsidiary companies
Increase in long-term loans receivable, before amortisation

(1,081.5)
43.7
–
–
–
–

(145.2)
93.3
(0.8)
190.1
(51.3)
(0.7)

–
–
(15.0)
–
–
–

–
–
–
190.1
(246.1)
–

Cash flows from investing activities

(1,037.8)

85.4

(15.0)

(56.0)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue and repurchase of shares
Borrowings drawn
Borrowings repaid
Equity dividends paid

10.1
1,944.8
(1,268.9)
(86.3)

1.9
644.8
(490.4)
(81.1)

10.1
–
–
(86.3)

1.9
–
–
(81.1)

Cash flows from financing activities

599.7

75.2

(76.2)

(79.2)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

(368.0)
438.8

238.0
200.8

–
–

–
–

70.8

438.8

–

–

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
*Restated for the effect of adopting IFRS (see note 40).
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Principal accounting policies –
group and company
Accounting convention and basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European
Union (“IFRS”) for the first time, and with those parts of the Companies
Act, 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The parent
company’s financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with
IFRS, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act
1985. The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption offered by
Section 230 of the Companies Act not to present a separate income
statement for the parent company. The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation
of properties, available-for-sale investments, financial assets and liabilities
held for trading. A summary of the more important group accounting
policies is set out below, together with an explanation of where changes
have been made to previous policies on the adoption of new accounting
standards in the year.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results
ultimately may differ from those estimates. Where such judgements are
made they are indicated within the accounting policies below.
Change in accounting policies
Prior to the adoption of IFRS the financial statements of Liberty
International had been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Accounting standards (UK GAAP). UK GAAP differs in certain respects
from IFRS and certain accounting, valuation and consolidation methods
have been amended, when preparing these financial statements, to comply
with IFRS. The comparative figures in respect of 2004 have been restated to
reflect these amendments. Reconciliation and description of the effect of
the transition from UK GAAP to IFRS on the reported financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of the group and company is set out
in note 40.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial information includes financial information in
respect of the company and its subsidiary undertakings. Subsidiary
undertakings are those entities in which the group has the ability to govern
the financial and operating policies, whether through a majority of the
voting rights or otherwise.
The group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using
proportional consolidation. The group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income
and expenses are combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated
financial statements on a line-by-line basis.
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisition of group undertakings is carried as
an intangible asset at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Under the terms of IFRS 1, (First Time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards), the company has elected not to apply retrospectively
IFRS3, (Business Combinations).
Investment properties
Investment properties are properties owned or leased by the group which
are held for long-term rental income and for capital appreciation. Investment
property is initially recognised at cost and revalued at the balance sheet date
to fair value as determined by professionally qualified external valuers on
the basis of market value. In accordance with IAS 40 (Investment Property),
property held under leases is stated gross of the recognised finance
lease liability.

Development properties
The group has elected to use the fair value model as reliable estimates are
available. Properties under development and land are initially recognised at
cost and revalued at the balance sheet date to fair value as determined by
professionally qualified external valuers. Cost includes interest and other
directly attributable outgoings, except in the case of properties and land
where no development is imminent, in which case no interest is included.
In accordance with IAS 16 (Property, Plant and Equipment), gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of development property are dealt
with in reserves. Upon completion, development properties to be held
for long-term rental income and capital appreciation are transferred to
investment property.
Leases
Leases are classified according to the substance of the transaction. A lease
that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are normally classified
as operating leases.
– group as lessee:
In accordance with IAS 40, finance and operating leases of investment
property are accounted for as finance leases and recognised as an asset and
an obligation to pay future minimum lease payments. The investment
property asset is included in the balance sheet at fair value, gross of the
recognised finance lease liability. Lease payments are allocated between the
liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant financing rate.
Other finance-leased assets are capitalised at the lower of the fair value
of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of
the asset.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
– group as lessor:
Assets leased out under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the
amount of the group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is
allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant rate of return on
the net investment.
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment
property, with rental income recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
Depreciation
Plant and equipment is depreciated to its residual value on a straight-line
basis over its expected useful life of up to five years.
Trading properties
Properties and land held for sale are included in the balance sheet at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost consists of direct cost
excluding interest.
Investments
Investments are classified as available-for-sale investments or trading
investments dependent on the purpose for which they were acquired.
For listed investments, fair value is the bid market listed value ruling at
the balance sheet date.
Available-for-sale investments, being investments intended to be held for
an indefinite period, are revalued to fair value at the balance sheet date.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of available-for-sale
investments are included in the revaluation reserve except to the extent that
losses are attributable to impairment, in which case they are recognised in
the income statement. Upon disposal, accumulated fair value adjustments
are included in the income statement.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in other operating income in the income statement of the
period in which they arise. The group has elected to use the fair value model.
Depreciation is not provided in respect of investment properties including
integral plant.

Trading investments, acquired principally for the purpose of generating a
profit from short-term fluctuations in price, are included in current assets
and revalued to fair value. Realised and unrealised gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value are included in the income statement of the
period in which they arise.

When the group redevelops an existing investment property for continued
future use as an investment property, the property remains an investment
property measured at fair value and is not reclassified. Interest is capitalised
(before tax relief), on the basis of the average rate of interest paid on the
relevant debt outstanding, until the date of practical completion.

Interests in subsidiary undertakings
Interests in subsidiary undertakings are carried in the company’s balance
sheet at cost in accordance with IAS 27 (Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements).
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the
purposes of the statements of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise
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cash on hand, deposits with banks, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less, net of
bank overdrafts.

The costs of defined contribution schemes and group personal plans are
charged against profits in the year in which they are incurred.

Revenue recognition
Property revenue consists of gross rental income calculated on an accruals
basis, together with sales and services as principal in the ordinary course of
business, excluding sales of investment properties. Rental income receivable
in the period from lease commencement to the earlier of lease expiry and
any tenant option to break is spread evenly over that period. Any incentive
for lessees to enter into a lease agreement is spread over the same period.

Share-based payments
The cost of granting share options and other share-based remuneration to
employees and Directors is recognised through the income statement with
reference to the fair value at the the date of the grant. In the case of options
granted, fair value is measured using an option pricing model and charged
over the vesting period of the options. Own shares held in connection with
employee share plans and other share-based payment arrangements are
treated as treasury shares and deducted from equity.

Contingent rents, being those lease payments that are not fixed at the
inception of a lease, for example increases arising on rent reviews, are
recorded as income in the periods in which they are earned. Rent reviews are
recognised as income, based on estimates, when it is reasonable to assume
they will be received.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a current obligation arising
from a past event and it is probable that the group will be required to settle
that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle that obligation at the balance sheet date.

Where revenue is obtained by the sale of properties, it is recognised when
the significant risks and returns have been transferred to the buyer. This will
normally take place on exchange of contracts unless there are significant
conditions attached. For conditional exchanges sales are recognised when
these conditions are satisfied.

Foreign currencies
The assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated into sterling at
the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and their income
statements and cash flows are translated at the average rate for the period.
Exchange differences arising from the retranslation of the net investment in
foreign entities are dealt with in reserves.

Revenue in respect of investment and other income represents investment
income, fees and commissions earned on an accruals basis and profits or
losses recognised on investments held for the short term. Dividends are
recognised when the shareholders’right to receive payment has been
established. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and the effective interest rate.
Exceptional items
Exceptional items are those significant items which are separately disclosed
by virtue of their size or incidence to enable a full understanding of the
group’s financial performance. Transactions which may give rise to
exceptional items are principally gains or losses on disposal of investments,
subsidiaries and early termination of debt instruments.
Income taxes
The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as
adjusted for items which are non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated
using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date. Tax payable upon realisation of revaluation gains recognised in
prior periods is recorded as a current tax charge with a release of the
associated deferred tax.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method in respect
of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in computation of taxable profit with the exception of deferred tax on
revaluation surpluses where the tax basis used is the accounts historic cost.
Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences, except in respect of
unremitted earnings from investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by
the group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is
settled. It is recognised in the income statement except when it relates to
items credited or charged directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also dealt with in equity.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when they relate to taxes
levied by the same authority, with a legal right to set off and when the group
intends to settle them on a net basis.
Pensions
The retirement benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet is the present
value of the defined benefit obligations, less the fair value of plan assets,
adjusted for past service costs.The defined benefit obligation and current
service cost are calculated annually by independent actuaries using the
projected unit credit method. In adopting IAS 19, the group has elected to
apply IAS 19 (amended) early. Consequently, actuarial gains and losses are
immediately recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense.

Transactions in currencies other than the group’s functional currency
are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing at the transaction dates.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from settlement of these
transactions and from retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income
statement except when qualifying as hedges, in which case they are
dealt with in reserves.
Debt instruments
Debt instruments are recognised initially at their issue proceeds, net of
transaction costs. Debt instruments are subsequently stated at amortised cost
using the effective yield method, with the difference between net proceeds
and redemption value recognised in the income statement over the period of
the borrowings. Finance charges are recognised on an accruals basis.
Derivative financial instruments
The group enters into derivative transactions such as interest rate swaps and
forward foreign exchange contracts in order to manage the risks arising from
its activities. Derivatives are recorded at fair value based on market prices,
estimated future cash flows and forward rates as appropriate.
The group applies hedge accounting to its forward foreign exchange
contracts where they meet the relevant criteria for hedging a net investment
in a foreign operation. Changes in the fair value of such derivatives that
are designated and effective as hedges are recognised directly in reserves,
to be transferred to the income statement in the period during which the
exchange movement on the hedged item is recognised in the income
statement. Any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income
statement as a finance cost. When a hedging instrument expires, is sold or
no longer qualifies as a hedge, the cumulative gain or loss remains in
reserves until the hedged item is recognised in the income statement.
The group does not apply hedge accounting to its interest rate swaps.
Any change in the fair value of such derivatives is recognised immediately
in the income statement as a finance cost.
Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs. When the group’s own equity instruments are repurchased,
consideration paid is deducted from equity as treasury shares until they are
cancelled. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any
consideration received is included in equity.
Compound instruments
At the date of issue of compound instruments, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar
non-compound debt. The difference between the proceeds of issue and
the fair value of the liability, the embedded option to convert into equity,
is included in equity. Issue costs are apportioned between the liability
and equity components based on their relative initial carrying values.
The interest payable and amortisation of the carrying value of the liability
component are recognised as interest expense so as to maintain a constant
rate of interest on the carrying value. The value of the equity component is
not remeasured in subsequent periods.
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1 Segmental reporting
(a) Business segments
For management purposes the group is organised into two operating divisions, UK shopping centres and Other commercial properties:
31 December 2005
UK
Other
shopping commercial
centres properties
£m
£m

103.4

Other
activities
£m

Group
total
£m

2.2

434.3

–
–

417.1
(117.0)

Revenue

328.7

Rental income
Rental expense

327.2
(91.6)

89.9
(25.4)

Net rental income
Property trading profits
Other income
Gain on revaluation and sale of investment properties

235.6
1.2
–
459.4

64.5
10.4
0.4
106.1

–
–
2.2
–

300.1
11.6
2.6
565.5

Segment result

696.2

181.4

2.2

879.8

Unallocated administration costs

(29.2)

Operating profit

850.6

Total assets
Total liabilities
Borrowings, including finance leases

6,015.5
(892.9)
(2,992.7)

1,273.5
(110.7)
(438.3)

0.2
(87.7)
166.2

7,289.2
(1,091.3)
(3,264.8)

Net assets

2,129.9

724.5

78.7

2,933.1

1,042.6
0.5

59.6
0.3

–
–

1,102.2
0.8

Other segment items:
Capital expenditure
Depreciation/amortisation

31 December 2004 Restated
UK
shopping
centres
£m

Other
commercial
properties
£m

Other
activities
£m

Group
total
£m

Revenue

289.5

93.4

9.8

392.7

Rental income
Rental expense

274.3
(86.9)

93.2
(24.3)

Net rental income
Property trading profits
Other income
Gain on revaluation and sale of investment properties

187.4
6.0
–
244.3

68.9
0.2
–
113.0

–
–
8.9
–

256.3
6.2
8.9
357.3

Segment result

437.7

182.1

8.9

628.7

–
–

367.5
(111.2)

Unallocated administration costs

(27.2)

Operating profit before exceptional items
Exceptional profit on disposal of fixed asset investments

601.5
35.6

Operating profit

637.1

Total assets
Total liabilities
Borrowings, including finance leases
Net assets
Other segment items:
Capital expenditure
Depreciation/amortisation

4,539.9
(805.7)
(2,153.3)

1,118.9
(115.1)
(390.5)

330.6
(20.2)
29.6

5,989.4
(941.0)
(2,514.2)

1,580.9

613.3

340.0

2,534.2

364.0
0.2

74.3
0.3

–
–

438.3
0.5

The exceptional profit on disposal of investments of £35.6m in 2004 relates to the group’s Other activities segment.
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1 Segmental reporting continued
(b) Geographical segments
Revenue

United Kingdom
United States

Total assets

Capital expenditure

2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

400.2
34.1

366.9
25.8

6,898.1
391.1

5,709.7
279.7

1,064.9
37.3

377.0
61.3

434.3

392.7

7,289.2

5,989.4

1,102.2

438.3

2 Gain on revaluation and sale of investment properties
The reconciliation of the investment and development property revaluation surplus to the gain on revaluation of investment properties in the income
statement is set out below:
2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

Income statement gain on revaluation and sale of investment properties
Gain on sale of investment property – realised

565.5
(2.6)

357.3
(17.0)

Gains on revaluation of investment property – unrealised
Development property revaluation recognised in equity rather than the Income Statement – unrealised
Valuation movement in respect of head lease payments
Valuation movement in respect of rent free periods

562.9
(15.7)
0.4
5.3

340.3
–
0.4
(3.0)

Investment and development property revaluation surplus as determined by external valuers

552.9

337.7

2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

–

35.6

3 Exceptional profit on disposal of fixed asset investments

Profit on disposal of fixed asset investments

During the year ended 31 December 2004 the group disposed of its entire holding of 25.5 per cent of the ordinary share capital of Great Portland Estates plc.
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4 Finance costs
2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

Interest payable
On bank overdrafts and loans
On convertible debt
On obligations under finance leases

159.6
14.6
6.1

137.1
11.2
3.6

Gross interest payable – recurring
Interest capitalised on developments

180.3
(8.6)

151.9
(4.4)

Interest payable

171.7

147.5

8.4
4.5
0.8

–
3.3
0.1

13.7

3.4

Cost of early conversion of Liberty International 3.95% Convertible bonds
Issue costs written off on redemption of loans
Repurchase of CSC unsecured bonds
Exceptional finance costs

Interest is capitalised, before tax relief, on the basis of the average rate of interest paid of 6.5 per cent (2004 – 6.5 per cent) on the relevant debt, applied to
the cost of developments during the year.
5 Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation is arrived at after charging:
Staff costs (see note 38)
Depreciation
Auditors’remuneration
Remuneration paid to the company’s auditors for non-audit work*

2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

30.6
0.8
0.6
0.3

29.1
0.5
0.5
0.1

*In 2005 the auditors received an additional £55,000 in fees in respect of the £600 million refinancing of the MetroCentre and the £710 million refinancing of Braehead and
The Harlequin which have been deducted from the proceeds of issue (2004 – £40,000 included in respect of the £650 million Lakeside facility).

A more detailed analysis of auditors’remuneration is provided below:

Remuneration to the principal auditor comprises:
Statutory audit of the group (company £138,000 (2004 – £94,000))
Statutory audit of the pension funds
Audit-related regulatory reporting
Corporate finance advisory services
Taxation advisory services

Remuneration to other auditors comprises:
Statutory audit of US subsidiary

2005
£000

2004
£000

525
3
269
–
6

443
2
134
1
–

803

580

90

74
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6 Taxation on profit on ordinary activities
Taxation charge for the financial year
2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

Current UK corporation tax at 30% (2004 – 30%) on profits
Prior year items – UK corporation tax

24.0
(0.9)

27.6
(6.2)

Overseas taxation

23.1
2.4

21.4
3.0

Total group taxation on profits excluding exceptional items

25.5

24.4

Deferred tax:
On investment property
On derivative financial instruments
On other temporary differences

183.3
(43.7)
0.2

112.5
(12.9)
(3.2)

Deferred tax on ordinary items

139.8

96.4

Tax charge on ordinary items

165.3

120.8

Tax on exceptional items
– current tax
– deferred tax

(15.3)
10.6

0.4
1.8

(4.7)

2.2

Total tax charge

160.6

123.0

Current tax on ordinary and exceptional items
Deferred tax on ordinary and exceptional items

10.2
150.4

24.8
98.2

Total tax charge

160.6

123.0

2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

526.9

455.1

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate in the UK (30%)
UK capital allowances not reversing on sale
Disposals of properties and investments
Prior year corporation tax items
Prior year deferred tax items
Expenses disallowed, net of capitalised interest
Untaxed dividends
Overseas taxation, including joint ventures

158.1
–
(0.3)
(6.7)
7.3
1.9
(0.3)
0.6

136.5
(2.2)
(8.5)
(5.2)
2.8
0.3
(1.2)
0.5

Total tax charge

160.6

123.0

Tax charge on exceptional items

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the period is different from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%). The differences are explained below:

Tax items that are taken directly to equity are shown in the Statement of recognised income and expense.
Factors that may affect future tax charges
The tax charge on non-exceptional items is expected to be less than the full rate in future years, primarily due to the group continuing to claim capital
allowances in respect of eligible expenditure on investment properties.
7 Profit for the financial year attributable to shareholders of Liberty International PLC
Profits of £388.6 million are dealt with in the accounts of the holding company in respect of the year (2004 – £118.5 million (restated)). No income statement
is presented for the company as permitted by Section 230 Companies Act 1985.
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8 Dividends paid

Ordinary shares
Prior period final dividend paid of 14.1p per share (2004 – 13.25p)
Interim dividend paid of 13.0p per share (2004 – 12.4p)

2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

44.7
41.6

41.8
39.3

86.3

81.1

A final dividend in respect of 2005 of 15.25p (2004 – 14.1p) per share amounting to a total of £51.1 million (2004 – £44.7 million) is proposed by the
Board. The dividend proposed is not accounted for until it has been approved at the Annual General Meeting. The amount will be accounted for as an
appropriation of revenue reserves in the year ending 31 December 2006.
Details of the shares in issue and dividends waived are given in notes 23 and 24.
9 Earnings per share
2005
millions

2004
millions

Weighted average ordinary shares in issue
Weighted average ordinary shares held by ESOP

322.1
(3.1)

321.7
(4.7)

Weighted average ordinary shares in issue for calculation of basic earnings per share
Weighted average ordinary shares to be issued on conversion of bonds and under employee incentive arrangements

319.0
31.5

317.0
31.9

Weighted average ordinary shares in issue for calculation of diluted earnings per share

350.5

348.9

2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

Earnings used for calculation of basic earnings per share
Reduction in interest charge from conversion of bonds, net of tax

366.3
10.2

332.1
10.8

Earnings used for calculation of diluted earnings per share

376.5

342.9

Basic earnings per share

114.8p

104.8p

Diluted earnings per share

107.4p

98.3p

Earnings used for calculation of basic earnings per share
Add back/(less) exceptional items, net of tax
Less gain on revaluation and sale of investment properties
Add back fair value movement on derivative financial instruments
Add back deferred tax in respect of investment properties
Less deferred tax in respect of derivative financial instruments

366.3
9.0
(565.5)
145.8
183.3
(43.7)

332.1
(30.0)
(357.3)
41.4
112.5
(12.9)

Earnings used for calculation of adjusted earnings per share

95.2

85.8

29.8p

27.1p

95.2
10.2

85.8
10.8

Earnings used for calculation of adjusted, diluted earnings per share

105.4

96.6

Adjusted, diluted earnings per share

30.1p

27.7p

Adjusted earnings per share

Earnings used for calculation of adjusted earnings per share
Reduction in interest charge from conversion of bonds, net of tax
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10 Investment and development properties

Freehold
£m

Leasehold
over
50 years
£m

Total
£m

Investment properties:
At 31 December 2004 (restated)
Additions
Disposals
Transfers from development properties
Transfers from trading properties
Foreign exchange fluctuations
Surplus on valuation

3,127.2
300.1
–
41.7
2.5
28.8
380.2

2,123.2
767.6
(40.4)
–
–
–
182.7

5,250.4
1,067.7
(40.4)
41.7
2.5
28.8
562.9

At 31 December 2005

3,880.5

3,033.1

6,913.6

47.2
34.4
(41.7)
(15.7)

–
–
–
–

47.2
34.4
(41.7)
(15.7)

24.2

–

24.2

Total investment and development properties:
At 31 December 2005

3,904.7

3,033.1

6,937.8

At 31 December 2004 (restated)

3,174.4

2,123.2

5,297.6

UK
£m

US
£m

Total
£m

Geographical analysis:
Investment properties
Development properties

6,583.2
24.2

330.4
–

6,913.6
24.2

At 31 December 2005

6,607.4

330.4

6,937.8

Development properties:
At 31 December 2004 (restated)
Additions
Transfers to investment properties
Deficit on valuation
At 31 December 2005

Included within investment and development properties is £8.0 million (31 December 2004 – nil) of interest capitalised on developments and
redevelopments in progress.
The group’s interests in investment and development properties were valued as at 31 December 2005 by external valuers in accordance with the Appraisal
and Valuation Manual of RICS, on the basis of Market Value. Market Value represents the figure that would appear in a hypothetical contract of sale between
a willing buyer and a willing seller.
In the UK, properties were valued by either DTZ Debenham Tie Leung, Chartered Surveyors, Knight Frank LLP, CB Richard Ellis or Matthews &
Goodman LLP. In the United States, properties were valued by Cushman and Wakefield California, Inc.
A reconciliation of investment and development property valuations to the balance sheet carrying value of property is shown below.
2005
£m

2004
£m

Investment and development property at market value as determined by external valuers
Add minimum payment under head leases separately included as a creditor in the balance sheet
Less accrued incentives separately included as a debtor in the balance sheet

6,936.3
53.9
(52.4)

5,309.7
31.9
(44.0)

Balance sheet carrying value of investment and development property

6,937.8

5,297.6

The carrying amount of the group’s investment properties include an amount of £3,033.1 million (2004 – £2,123.2 million) in respect of properties held under
finance leases.
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10 Investment and development properties continued
Operating leases
The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

2005
£m

2004
£m

378.6
1,327.3
2,183.0

279.2
1,080.9
1,799.3

3,888.9

3,159.4

Contingent rents recognised in the income statement were £18.6 million (2004 – £17.2 million).
In the UK, the standard shopping centre lease is let, for a term of 10 to 15 years, either at market rent or, for turnover based leases, at a minimum rent
generally set at 80 per cent of market rent. Standard lease provisions include service charge payments, recovery of other direct costs, and review every five
years either to market rent or, for turnover leases, to 80 per cent of market rent. Standard turnover based leases have a turnover percentage agreed with each
lessee which is applied to a retail unit’s annual sales and any excess between the resulting turnover rent and the minimum rent is receivable by the group.
In the UK, standard commercial leases vary considerably between markets and locations but typically are let, for a term of five to 15 years, at market rent
with provisions to review to market rent every five years. Typically, single let properties are leased on terms where the tenant is responsible for repairs and
running costs, and multi-let properties are leased on terms including service charges. In the United States, leases are typically of shorter duration,
sometimes with renewal options.
11 Plant and equipment
Cost
£m

Accumulated
depreciation
£m

Net
£m

At 31 December 2003 (restated)
Additions
Charge for the year

6.4
0.8
–

(5.4)
–
(0.5)

1.0
0.8
(0.5)

At 31 December 2004 (restated)
Additions
Charge for the year

7.2
0.1
–

(5.9)
–
(0.8)

1.3
0.1
(0.8)

At 31 December 2005

7.3

(6.7)

0.6

Plant and equipment include vehicles, fixtures, fittings and other office equipment.
12 Investment in group companies
2005
Company
£m

2004
Restated
Company
£m

At 1 January
Additions
Disposals

2,113.2
15.0
(35.4)

1,867.2
246.0
–

At 31 December

2,092.8

2,113.2

Investment in group companies includes equity and debt instruments.
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12 Investment in group companies continued
Joint ventures
Group share
2005
£m

2004
£m

Summarised income statements
Gross rental income

1.1

8.0

Net rental income
Net interest payable
Tax

1.0
–
–

7.7
(3.0)
(0.4)

Profit after tax

1.0

4.3

Summarised balance sheets
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

57.7
1.0
(2.4)
(34.1)

28.4
0.4
(1.2)
(7.3)

Net assets

22.2

20.3

All joint ventures are held equally with other joint venture investors on a 50:50 basis. The Xscape Braehead Partnership was established in September 2004,
for investment in the Xscape Leisure Scheme at Braehead, Renfrew, Glasgow. It has a 31 December year end. All other joint ventures are registered in the
United States and are in the business of property investment. Full details of all joint ventures will be attached to the company’s Annual Return to be filed
with the Registrar of Companies. Profit after tax in 2004 included 11 months’contribution from a joint venture which became a wholly owned subsidiary
in December 2004.
13 Trading properties

Undeveloped sites
Completed properties

Group
2005
£m

Group
2004
Restated
£m

82.6
50.0

64.1
47.8

132.6

111.9

The estimated replacement cost of trading properties based on market value amounted to £156.0 million (31 December 2004 – £113.9 million).
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14 Trade and other receivables

Amounts falling due within one year:
Rents receivable
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Derivative financial instruments
Tax recoverable
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Group
2005
£m

Group
2004
Restated
£m

Company
2005
£m

Company
2004
Restated
£m

20.8
–
0.9
–
21.5
35.5

15.0
–
2.4
–
34.3
28.8

–
546.5
–
11.6
3.9
–

–
213.9
–
5.6
3.5
–

78.7

80.5

562.0

223.0

13.7
52.0

11.5
47.8

2.5
–

2.1
–

65.7

59.3

2.5

2.1

Group
2005
£m

Group
2004
Restated
£m

3.0

–

Included within other debtors is a deferred tax asset of £0.5 million (2004 – £0.2 million) relating to the pension liability shown in note 39.
15 Investments

Investment in equity shares

At 31 December 2005 the group held £3.0 million (2004 – £nil) short-term investment in equity shares which are fair valued through the income statement.
16 Trade and other payables

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Other taxes and social security
Other creditors
Rents received in advance
Accruals and deferred income

Group
2005
£m

Group
2004
Restated
£m

Company
2005
£m

Company
2004
Restated
£m

0.1
–
12.1
22.0
76.5
101.7

–
–
20.6
20.5
70.9
78.3

–
123.0
0.3
–
–
4.3

–
119.8
0.1
–
–
5.7

212.4

190.3

127.6

125.6
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17 Borrowings, including finance leases
Group
2005
£m

Group
2004
Restated
£m

Company
2005
£m

Company
2004
Restated
£m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Secured borrowings
Bank loans and overdrafts
Commercial mortgage backed security notes (“CMBS”)*

151.6
15.0

9.2
–

–
–

–
–

Gross short-term debt
Finance lease obligations

166.6
6.9

9.2
4.0

–
–

–
–

Total amounts falling due within one year

173.5

13.2

–

–

1,141.9
547.5
–
98.4
384.9
40.0

–
548.7
526.5
–
386.0
40.0

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

2,212.7

1,501.2

–

–

230.0
–
147.0

230.0
172.5
117.4

–
–
–

–
–
–

2,589.7

2,021.1

–

–

26.5
41.0

31.7
64.1

–
–

–
–

£111.3 million (2004 – £240 million) 3.95% convertible bonds due 2010

2,657.2
105.4

2,116.9
220.9

–
105.4

–
220.9

Gross long-term debt
Finance lease obligations

2,762.6
47.6

2,337.8
28.5

105.4
–

220.9
–

Amounts falling due after more than one year

2,810.2

2,366.3

105.4

220.9

Total borrowings including finance leases
Cash and cash equivalents

2,983.7
(70.8)

2,379.5
(438.8)

105.4
–

220.9
–

Net borrowings

2,912.9

1,940.7

105.4

220.9

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Secured borrowings – non recourse
CMBS Notes 2015
CMBS Notes 2011
Bank loan 2015
Bank loan 2013
Bank loans 2014
Bank loan 2007
Other secured borrowings
Debentures 2021 and 2027
Bank loan 2016
Other loans
Unsecured borrowings
CSC bonds 2013
CSC bonds 2009

Certain borrowings of the group’s property subsidiaries are secured by charges on specific property assets of those subsidiaries.
*During the year the group entered into several non-recourse term loan facilities secured on shopping centres. These CMBS linked financings were provided
by a specialist real estate bank, and are funded by the issuance of floating-rate commercial mortgage backed securities (“CMBS”). This structure enables the
group to obtain capital market debt pricing whilst retaining the flexibility of a bank loan.
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17 Borrowings, including finance leases continued
The maturity profile of gross debt (excluding finance leases) is as follows:

Wholly repayable within one year
Wholly repayable in more than one year but not more than two years
Wholly repayable in more than two years but not more than five years
Wholly repayable in more than five years

Group
2005
£m

Group
2004
Restated
£m

Company
2005
£m

Company
2004
Restated
£m

166.6
81.3
291.7
2,389.6

9.2
17.0
226.9
2,093.9

–
–
105.4
–

–
–
–
220.9

2,929.2

2,347.0

105.4

220.9

Certain borrowing agreements contain financial and other conditions that, if contravened, could alter the repayment profile.
The group has various undrawn committed borrowing facilities. The facilities available at 31 December in respect of which all conditions precedent had been
met were as follows:

Expiring in more than two years

2005
£m

2004

405.0

675.0

£m

18 Convertible debt
3.95 per cent convertible bonds due 2010 (“the 3.95 per cent bonds”)
On 16 October 2003, the company issued £240 million nominal 3.95 per cent bonds raising £233.4 million after costs. The holders of the 3.95 per cent
bonds have the option to convert their bonds into ordinary shares at any time on or up to 23 September 2010 at 800p per ordinary share, a conversion
rate of 12.5 ordinary shares for every £100 nominal of 3.95 per cent bonds. The 3.95 per cent bonds may be redeemed at par at the company’s option after
14 October 2008, subject to the Liberty International ordinary share price having traded at 120 per cent of the conversion price for a specified period, or
at anytime once 85 per cent by nominal value of the bonds originally issued have been converted or cancelled. Unless otherwise converted, cancelled or
redeemed the 3.95 per cent bonds will be redeemed by Liberty International at par on 30 September 2010.
On 8 December 2005, Liberty International PLC announced that it would offer £60 per £1,000 of bonds to holders of outstanding £240 million of
3.95 per cent convertible bonds due 2010 to convert into ordinary shares.
Conversion notices were accepted by the company in respect of £128.7 million of bonds, representing 53.6 per cent of the £240 million of bonds outstanding
on 16 December 2005. The company paid a sum of £7.7 million which, together with costs of £0.7 million, resulted in an exceptional finance charge of
£8.4 million.
The bonds converted into 16.1 million new ordinary shares of the company on the basis of 125 shares for £1,000 of bonds, increasing the company’s issued
ordinary share capital by 5 per cent from 321.7 million to 337.8 million ordinary shares.
The remaining equity component of the convertible debt at 31 December 2005 is £9.1 million.
The outstanding convertible bonds may be redeemed at par on 30 September 2007 at the option of the bondholders.
The net proceeds received from the initial issue of the convertible loan notes have been split between the liability element and an equity component,
representing the fair value of the embedded option to convert the liability into equity as follows:
Group and company

Net proceeds of convertible bonds issued
Equity component
Liability component at date of issue
Cumulative amortisation since issue
Liability component of conversion
Liability component at 31 December 2005
The effective interest rate on the liability component at 31 December 2005 was 7.1 per cent (2004 – 7.1 per cent).

2005
£m

2004
£m

233.5
(19.6)

233.5
(19.6)

213.9
13.3
(121.8)

213.9
7.0
–

105.4

220.9
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19 Finance lease obligations
2005
£m

2004
£m

(a) Minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

6.9
26.2
127.6

4.1
16.2
68.0

Future finance charges on finance leases

160.7
(106.2)

88.3
(55.8)

Present value of finance lease liabilities

54.5

32.5

(b) Present value of minimum finance lease obligations
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

6.9
24.1
23.5

4.1
14.1
14.3

54.5

32.5

Finance lease liabilities are in respect of leased investment property. Many leases provide for contingent rent in addition to the rents above, usually a
proportion of net rental income.
Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased asset revert to the lessor in the event of default.
20 Financial instruments
Treasury policy
The group enters into derivative transactions such as interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts in order to help manage the financial risks
arising from the group’s activities. The main risks arising from the group’s financing structure are interest rate risk, liquidity risk and market price risk, the
latter in respect of both interest rates and foreign exchange. The policies for managing each of these risks and the principal effects of these policies on the
results for the year are summarised below.
Interest rate risk
Group debt carries both fixed and floating interest rates. Bank debt is typically at floating rates linked to LIBOR for the relevant currency. Bond debt and
other capital markets debt can be either fixed or floating rate. The group’s policy is to eliminate substantially all exposure to interest rate fluctuations in order
to establish certainty over long-term cash flows. Short-term debtors and creditors and investments are not directly exposed to interest rate risk.
Liquidity risk
The group’s policy is to minimise refinancing risk. At 31 December 2005, the maturity profile of group debt showed an average maturity of eight years
(2004 – nine years). The group will often pre-fund capital expenditure by arranging facilities or raising debt in the capital markets, placing surplus funds on
deposit until required for the project. Efficient treasury management and strict credit control minimise the costs and risks associated with this policy which
ensures that funds are available to meet commitments as they fall due.
Market price risk
The group is exposed to market price risk through interest rate and currency fluctuations.
Interest rates
The group’s policy is to substantially eliminate risk in respect of changes in interest rates such that over the longer term changes in interest rates will
have little or no impact on reported profits. As a consequence, the group is exposed to market price risk in respect of the fair value of its fixed rate
financial instruments.
Foreign exchange
The group held investments in the US during the year. The group seeks to minimise market price risk in respect of foreign exchange movements.
The group’s policy is, to as far as practical, hedge the net investment in non-sterling assets. This is done by matching borrowings in US dollars and
through entering into cross-currency interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contacts.
Financial assets
Financial assets are disclosed in notes 14, 15 and below.
The group has no significant concentration of credit risk as exposure is spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.
The credit risk in liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit rating agencies.
The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for
doubtful receivables.
The group’s financial assets, which represent its total exposure to credit risk, are cash and near cash investments, debtors and other investments.
The group has entered into equity-linked derivative “contracts for difference”. The market value of the equities underlying such contracts at 31 December
2005 was £11.1 million (2004 – £4.1 million). The market value of these contracts is £0.7 million and the differences are cash settled monthly (2004 – £nil).
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20 Financial instruments continued
Fair values of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities comprise long-term borrowings and other payables, derivative instruments, cash, receivables and investments. The fair values
of financial assets and liabilities have been established using the market value, where available. For those instruments without a market value, a discounted
cash flow approach has been used. Where no amount is disclosed in the table below, there is no material difference between the balance sheet value and the
fair value.
Group 2004

Group 2005

Debentures and other fixed rate loans
Sterling
C&C 9.875% debenture 2027
C&C 11.25% debenture 2021
CSC 6.875% unsecured bonds 2013
CSC 5.75% unsecured bonds 2009
US dollars
Fixed rate loans
Bank loans (LIBOR linked)
Finance lease obligations
Derivative instruments

Convertible bonds – fixed rate (note 18)

Fair value
£m

Balance
sheet value
Restated
£m

Fair value
Restated
£m

150.0
80.0
26.5
41.0

233.1
126.9
28.0
41.0

150.0
80.0
31.7
64.1

217.0
119.9
33.0
63.8

156.7

162.4

119.1

124.7

454.2
2,369.6
54.5
281.1

591.4
2,369.6
54.5
281.1

444.9
1,681.2
32.5
132.3

558.4
1,681.2
32.5
132.3

3,159.4

3,296.6

2,290.9

2,404.4

105.4

141.0

220.9

293.0

Notional
principal
£m

Average
contracted
rate
%

2,462
3,125
1,780
1,175
1,175

5.36
5.29
4.97
4.86
4.86

Balance
sheet value
£m

The adjustment in respect of the above, after credit for tax relief, to the diluted net assets per share would amount to 27p (2004 – 23p).
Interest rate swaps
The notional principal amount of the outstanding swap agreements at 31 December 2005 is £4,052 million (2004 – £2,444 million).
The table below summarises the interest rate swaps in place at 31 December 2005:

Sterling – pay fixed and receive floating
Outstanding after:
1 year
5 years
10 years
15 years
20 years or more

The net interest payable or receivable on interest rate swaps is settled quarterly or semi-annually. Currency and interest rate swap agreements are held by
the group to hedge the net investment in the US. Under these contracts which expire in 2006 and 2007 the group pays fixed rate US interest at 3.45 per cent
(weighted average) and receives fixed rate sterling interest at 4.55 per cent (weighted average).
The fair value of the net investment hedge at 31 December 2005 is an asset of £6.4 million (2004 – asset of £20.7 million).
At 31 December 2005, the net exposure to foreign currencies was US$15.1 million (2004 – US$18 million).
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21 Deferred tax liabilities
Income taxes
Under IAS 12 (Income Taxes) provision is made for the deferred tax liability associated with the revaluation of investment properties. The group does not
provide for deferred tax on investment properties by reference to the tax that would be due on the sale of the investment properties as the group has no
current intention to dispose of these properties. Instead, the group treats the value of the investment properties as being recovered through use, and so
provides for deferred tax on the revaluation of investment properties by applying the corporation tax rate of 30 per cent to the revaluation surplus without
indexation allowance.
The deferred tax provision on the revaluation of investment properties calculated under IAS 12 is £817.4 million at 31 December 2005 (31 December 2004 –
£653.8 million). This IAS 12 calculation does not reflect the expected amount of tax that would be payable if the assets were sold. The group estimates that
calculated on a disposal basis the liability is £642.5 million at 31 December 2005 (31 December 2004 – £505.0 million).
If upon sale the group retained all the capital allowances, which is within the control of the group, the deferred tax provision in respect of capital allowances
of £95.7 million would also be released, and further capital allowances of £19.1 million would be available to reduce the amount of tax payable on sale.
Under IFRS, where gains such as the revaluation of development properties and other assets and actuarial movements on pension funds are dealt with in
reserves, the deferred tax is also dealt with in reserves.
Analysis of deferred tax
Revaluation
of investment
properties
£m

At 31 December 2003 (restated)
Recognised in income
Recognised in equity

551.0
103.9
(1.1)

Capital
allowances
£m

67.1
10.4
(1.3)

Derivative
financial
instruments
£m

Other
temporary
differences
£m

Group
Total
£m

Company
Total
£m

(26.8)
(12.9)
–

21.9
(3.2)
(0.1)

613.2
98.2
(2.5)

–
–
–

At 31 December 2004 (restated)

653.8

76.2

(39.7)

18.6

708.9

–

Recognised in income
Recognised in equity

168.3
(4.7)

17.2
2.3

(43.7)
–

8.7
(0.8)

150.5
(3.2)

–
–

At 31 December 2005

817.4

95.7

(83.4)

856.2

–

Group
£m

Company
£m

26.5

All deferred tax balances are expected to be recovered after more than one year.
22 Other provisions for liabilities and charges

At 31 December 2004 (restated)
Net charge for the year
Other movements
At 31 December 2005

17.2
1.2
(11.6)

0.6
–
1.2

6.8

1.8

Of the above provisions for liabilities and charges, £1.8 million falls due after more than five years and £5.0 million falls due between two and five years
(2004 – £3.0 million and £14.2 million respectively).
Included within other provisions is £1.8 million (2004 – £0.6 million) relating to pensions.
Other movements for the group include deferred consideration in respect of an investment property acquisition which was agreed during 2005 and payment
made in January 2006.
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23 Share capital and share premium
Company and group
2005
£m

2004
£m

250.0

250.0

Share
capital
£m

Share
premium
£m

As at 31 December 2004 – 321,688,298 ordinary shares of 50p each
Bond conversions

160.8
8.1

529.4
124.1

At 31 December 2005 – 337,772,673 ordinary shares of 50p each

168.9

653.5

Authorised
500,000,000 ordinary shares of 50p each

As at 9 February 2006, the company had an unexpired authority to repurchase shares up to a maximum of 32,168,829 shares with a nominal value of
£16.1 million.
The company issued during the year a total of 16,084,000 (2004 – 5,000) shares with a nominal value of £8,042,000 (2004 – £2,500) on conversion of
3.95 per cent convertible bonds.
Included within the issued share capital as at 31 December 2005 are 2,394,935 ordinary shares (2004 – 4,429,864) held by the Trustee of the Employee Share
Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) which is operated by the company (note 24). The nominal value of these shares is £1.2 million (2004 – £2.2 million).
24 Treasury shares
Treasury shares represent the cost of shares in Liberty International PLC purchased in the market and held by the Trustee of the Employee Share Ownership
Plan (ESOP) operated by the company.
The purpose of the ESOP is to acquire and hold shares which will be transferred to employees in the future under the group’s employee incentive
arrangements as described in note 38 and the Director’s remuneration report on pages 70 to 73. Dividends of £0.8 million (2004 – £1.2 million) have
been waived by agreement. Details of the shares in issue are given in note 23.
Company and group
Number

£m

At 31 December 2003 (restated)
Acquired in the year
Disposed of on exercise of options

5.2
0.1
(0.9)

(26.8)
(0.6)
4.1

At 31 December 2004
Acquired in the year
Disposed of on exercise of options
Other

4.4
0.1
(2.1)
–

(23.3)
(1.1)
10.7
0.5

At 31 December 2005

2.4

(13.2)
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25 Retained earnings
Group
£m

Company
£m

At 31 December 2003 (restated)
Cancellation of shares
Retained earnings
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes
Foreign exchange and other movements
Prior year revaluations realised

1,327.5
(0.6)
251.0
(0.4)
0.1
–

1,115.4
(0.6)
37.4
(0.4)
–
4.3

At 31 December 2004 (restated)
Retained profit
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes
Tax on items taken directly to equity
Foreign exchange and other movements

1,577.6
280.0
(2.6)
0.8
0.8

1,156.1
302.3
(2.6)
0.8
(0.3)

At 31 December 2005

1,856.6

1,456.3

Group
£m

Company
£m

26 Convertible bond reserve

At 31 December 2003 and 2004 (restated)
Bond conversion
At 31 December 2005

19.6
(10.5)

19.6
(10.5)

9.1

9.1

Group
£m

Company
£m

27 Revaluation reserve

At 31 December 2003 (restated)
Tax on revaluation of investments
Transfers to net profit on disposal of other investments
Other movements

(268.2)
1.1
(6.6)
(4.1)

96.9
–
(10.9)
0.3

At 31 December 2004 (restated)
Deficit on revaluation of development properties
Tax on items taken directly to equity
Other movements

(277.8)
(15.7)
4.7
(0.9)

86.3
–
–
(1.0)

At 31 December 2005

(289.7)

85.3
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28 Other reserves
Capital
redemption
reserve
£m

Translation
reserve
£m

Other
£m

Total
£m

546.6
0.1
1.2

Group
At 31 December 2003 (restated)
Cancellation of shares
Foreign exchange and other movements

61.4
0.1
–

1.2

485.2
–
–

At 31 December 2004 (restated)

61.5

1.2

485.2

547.9

At 31 December 2005

61.5

1.2

485.2

547.9

Company
At 31 December 2003 (restated)
Cancellation of shares

61.4
0.1

–
–

–
–

61.4
0.1

–

At 31 December 2004

61.5

–

–

61.5

At 31 December 2005

61.5

–

–

61.5

29 Summary of changes in equity
Company

Group
2005
£m

2004
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

Opening equity shareholders’funds (restated)
Bond conversions
Issue of shares
Cancellation of shares

2,534.2
121.7
11.2
(1.1)

2,288.9
0.1
4.1
(1.2)

1,990.4
121.7
11.2
(1.1)

1,956.6
0.1
4.1
(1.2)

Total recognised income and expense for the period

2,666.0
353.4

2,291.9
323.4

2,122.2
385.5

1,959.6
111.9

Dividends paid

3,019.4
(86.3)

2,615.3
(81.1)

2,507.7
(86.3)

2,071.5
(81.1)

Closing equity shareholders’funds

2,933.1

2,534.2

2,421.4

1,990.4
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30 Net assets per share

Net assets per share (basic)
Net assets per share (diluted, adjusted)

2005

2004

875p

799p

1188p

1025p

2005
Net assets
£m

2005
Shares
million

2004
Net assets
Restated
£m

2004
Shares
million

Basic
Adjustments:
Fair value of derivative financial instruments (net of tax)
Deferred tax on revaluation surpluses
Deferred tax on capital allowances
Unrecognised surplus on trading properties (net of tax)

2,933.1

335.4

2,534.2

317.3

194.4
817.4
95.7
16.4

–
–
–
–

92.6
653.8
76.2
2.0

–
–
–
–

Adjusted
Effect of dilution:
On conversion of bonds
On exercise of options

4,057.0

335.4

3,358.8

317.3

105.4
17.9

13.9
2.7

220.9
27.7

30.0
4.8

Diluted, adjusted

4,180.3

352.0

3,607.4

352.1

31 Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiary undertakings
During 2004, the group acquired the remaining 50 per cent of one of its joint ventures. Of the total consideration, £57.1 million was paid in the year and the
additional share (50 per cent) of the cash of £11.6 million, held by the joint venture upon acquisition, was transferred into the group balance sheet, resulting
in a net cash outflow of £51.3 million.
32 Capital commitments
At 31 December 2005, the group was contractually committed to £69.9 million (2004 – £329.2 million) of future expenditure for the purchase, construction,
development and enhancement of investment property.
In addition the group’s share of joint ventures’commitments at 31 December 2005 was £13.6 million (2004 – £36.7 million).
33 Contingent liabilities
At 31 December 2005, there were no contingent liabilities of which the Directors are aware (2004 – nil).
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34 Principal subsidiary undertakings
Company and principal activity

Capital Shopping Centres PLC* (property) and its principal subsidiary undertakings:
Braehead Glasgow Limited (property)
Braehead Park Investments Limited (property)
Braehead Park Estates Limited (property)
Chapelfield LP Limited (property)
CSC (Eldon Square) Limited (property)
CSC Harlequin Limited (property)
CSC Bromley (High Street) Limited (property)
CSC Lakeside Limited (property)
CSC Enterprises Limited (commercial promotion)
CSC MetroCentre Limited (property)
CSC Properties Limited (property)
CSC Properties Investments Limited (property)
CSC Bromley Limited (property)
CSC Potteries Limited (property)
Capital & Counties Limited (property) and its principal subsidiary undertakings:
C&C Properties 2021 Limited (property)
C&C Properties 2027 Limited (property)
Capcount Kensington Limited (property)
Liberty Retail Properties Limited
C&C Management Services Limited (property services)
CSC Management Services Limited (property services)
C&C Properties UK Limited (property) and its principal subsidiary undertaking:
Kestrel Properties Limited (property)
Capvestco Limited (property and financing) (Jersey) and its principal subsidiary undertakings:
C&C Properties Jersey Limited (property) (Jersey) and its principal subsidiary undertaking:
Capcount Kingsreach (Jersey) Limited (property) (Jersey)
CSC Uxbridge (Jersey) Limited (property) (Jersey)
Capital Enterprise Centres (Jersey) Limited (property) (Jersey)
Belside Limited (property) (Jersey)
Curley Limited (property) (Jersey)
Steventon Limited (property) (Jersey)
Liberty International Asset Management Limited (asset management)
Liberty International Group Treasury Limited (treasury management)
Liberty Payments Limited (service company)
Capital & Counties U.S.A., Inc. (USA) (property and financing)

Class of share capital

% held

Ordinary shares of 50p each
“A”Ordinary shares of £1 each
“B”Ordinary shares of 1 Irish Punt each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
7% Preference shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of 25p each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Common stock of US$1 par value

*82.5 per cent held by Liberty International PLC, and 17.5 per cent held by Liberty International Financial Services Limited.

The companies listed above are those subsidiary undertakings whose results or financial position, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
figures in the company’s annual accounts. A full list of related undertakings will be annexed to the company’s next annual return.
Companies are incorporated and registered in England and Wales unless otherwise stated. All subsidiary undertakings have been included in the
consolidated results.

100*
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
70
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
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35 Related party transactions
Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation for the group.
Key management compensation is disclosed in note 38.
Transactions between the parent company and its subsidiaries are shown below:
Subsidiary

TAI Investments Limited
Liberty International Holdings Limited
Conduit Insurance Holdings Limited
Capital Shopping Centres PLC
Capital & Counties Limited
Liberty International Group Treasury Limited

Nature of transaction

2005
£m

2004
£m

Dividend
Dividend
Dividend
Dividend
Interest receivable on bonds
Re-charges
Investment income
Re-charges
Interest payable/receivable
Interest receivable

106.3
134.4
115.0
36.4
17.0
2.5
4.8
1.1
(1.4)
11.4

18.5
15.2
20.5
32.7
10.8
2.0
–
0.7
1.0
8.3

Significant balances outstanding between the parent company and its subsidiaries are shown below:
Amounts owed by
subsidiaries

Subsidiary

Liberty International Group Treasury Limited
C&C (Australia) Holdings Limited
Capital & Counties Limited
Conduit Insurance Holdings Limited
Liberty International Holdings Limited
TAI Investments Limited
Capital Shopping Centres PLC
Liberty International Asset Management Limited
Capcount Trading Limited
Greenhaven Industrial Properties Limited
C&C Properties UK Limited

Amounts owed to
subsidiaries

2005
£m

2004
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

381.9
–
22.6
16.0
132.8
–
2.7
0.4
–
–
–

50.7
–
21.9
16.0
132.8
–
1.9
0.4
–
–
–

–
(20.4)
(60.0)
–
–
(42.6)
–
–
(2.3)
(7.9)
(0.8)

–
(17.1)
(60.0)
–
–
(42.6)
–
–
(2.3)
(7.6)
(0.2)

36 Directors’ emoluments
The details of individual Directors’remuneration and pension benefits as set out in the tables contained in the Directors’remuneration report on pages 70 to
73 form part of these financial statements. Details of gains made on exercise of share options are contained in note 37.
37 Directors’ interests
(a) In shares and bonds in Liberty International Group Companies
The number of ordinary shares of the company in which the Directors were beneficially interested were:
2005**

J.G. Abel
D. Bramson
R.W.T. Buchanan
D.P.H. Burgess
R.M. Cable
K.E. Chaldecott
R.G. Finch
D.A. Fischel
D. Gordon†
G.J. Gordon
I.J. Henderson
L. James
M. Rapp
R.O. Rowley
J.I. Saggers
A.C. Smith
* or date of appointment if later.
** or date of cessation of directorship if earlier.
† Sir Donald Gordon had a non-beneficial interest in 25,904,349 ordinary shares in Liberty International (2004 – 25,904,349).

2004*

132,523
104,046
5,000
5,000
37,088
37,088
19,250
19,250
22,465
–
27,375
2,375
7,712
5,712
309,126
254,702
12,472,950 12,398,847
1,486,891 1,486,891
10,000
–
6,500
6,500
7,929
7,929
1,000
–
107,515
85,552
150,466
107,330
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37 Directors’ interests continued
Liberty International PLC ordinary shares of 50p each
Conditional awards of shares have been made under the company’s annual bonus scheme.
The awards comprise “restricted” shares and “additional” shares, the latter equal to 50 per cent of the restricted and Share Incentive Plan shares
(see below) combined. These shares will be released respectively three and five years for awards made up to and including 2000, and two and
four years respectively for awards made in 2001 and subsequently, after the date of the award provided the individual Director has remained in service.
Awards to Executive Directors under the scheme to date have been as follows:
Market price
at award
pence
Award date

J.G. Abel

R.M. Cable

K.E. Chaldecott

D.A. Fischel

J.I. Saggers

A.C. Smith

Market price
At
at vesting 31December
Vesting date
pence
2004*

01/03/2003
20/02/2002
06/02/2001
28/02/2000
01/03/2003

565
545
500
350
565

01/03/2007
20/02/2006
16/03/2005
16/03/2005
16/03/2005

16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003
20/02/2002
06/02/2001
28/02/2000
16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003

978
728
565
545
500
350
978
728
565

01/03/2009
01/03/2008
01/03/2007
20/02/2006
16/03/2005
16/03/2005
01/03/2007
01/03/2006
16/03/2005

16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003
20/02/2002
06/02/2001
28/02/2000
16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003

978
728
565
545
500
350
978
728
565

01/03/2009
01/03/2008
01/03/2007
20/02/2006
16/03/2005
16/03/2005
01/03/2007
01/03/2006
16/03/2005

16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003
20/02/2002
06/02/2001
28/02/2000
16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003

978
728
565
545
500
425
978
728
565

01/03/2009
01/03/2008
01/03/2007
20/02/2006
16/03/2005
16/03/2005
01/03/2007
01/03/2006
16/03/2005

16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003
20/02/2002
06/02/2001
28/02/2000
16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003

978
728
565
545
500
425
978
728
565

01/03/2009
01/03/2008
01/03/2007
20/02/2006
16/03/2005
16/03/2005
01/03/2007
01/03/2006
16/03/2005

16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003
20/02/2002
06/02/2001
28/02/2000
16/03/2005
01/03/2004
01/03/2003

978
728
565
545
500
425
978
728
565

01/03/2009
01/03/2008
01/03/2007
20/02/2006
16/03/2005
16/03/2005
01/03/2007
01/03/2006
16/03/2005

977.5
977.5
977.5

977.5
977.5
977.5

977.5
977.5
977.5

977.5
977.5
977.5

977.5
977.5
977.5

977.5
977.5
977.5

At
31 December
Awarded†
2005**

Lapsed

Vested

2,655
2,615
2,400
2,554
4,779

2,655
2,615
–
–
–

–
–
2,400
2,554
4,779

15,003

5,270

9,733

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
1,648
1,925
1,858
2,300
836
–
2,885
3,319
14,771

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
2,300
836
–
–
3,319
6,455

1,323
–
–
–
–
–
2,339
–
–
3,662

1,323
1,648
1,925
1,858
–
–
2,339
2,885
–
11,978

–
1,700
1,925
1,858
2,300
836
–
2,988
3,319
14,926

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
2,300
836
–
–
3,319
6,455

1,380
–
–
–
–
–
2,454
–
–
3,834

1,380
1,700
1,925
1,858
–
–
2,454
2,988
–
12,305

–
3,915
4,779
6,422
6,195
5,206
–
7,418
9,027

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
6,195
5,206
–
–
9,027

2,001
–
–
–
–
–
3,695
–
–

42,962

–

20,428

5,696

2,001
3,915
4,779
6,422
–
–
3,695
7,418
–
28,230

–
1,500
1,841
2,385
3,800
3,250
–
2,588
3,150

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
3,800
3,250
–
–
3,150

1,725
–
–
–
–
–
3,144
–
–

1,725
1,500
1,841
2,385
–
–
3,144
2,588
–

18,514

–

10,200

4,869

13,183

–
2,215
2,549
3,394
3,440
2,824
–
4,018
4,566

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
3,440
2,824
–
–
4,566

1,132
–
–
–
–
–
1,958
–
–

23,006

–

10,830

3,090

1,132
2,215
2,549
3,394
–
–
1,958
4,018
–
15,266

–
–
–
–
–

* or date of appointment if later.
**or date of cessation of directorship if earlier.
† Bonus shares in respect of the year ended 31 December 2004 awarded in February 2005. Details of bonus shares awarded in respect of the year ended 31 December 2005 are
given on page 72 in the Directors’remuneration report.
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37 Directors’ interests continued
Awards have also been made under the company’s Share Incentive Plan (SIP). The SIP shares can be released three years after the date of the award
provided the individual Director has remained in employment but the shares should continue to be held in trust for a further two years in order to qualify
for tax advantages. Also as part of the SIP arrangements, Executive Directors, along with eligible employees, are offered the opportunity to participate in a
“Partnership”share scheme, the terms of which are governed by the Inland Revenue. The dividend payable in respect of the shares held in trust is used to
purchase additional shares, known as Dividend Shares, which are also held in trust. The Dividend Shares are generally required to be held in trust for a
minimum period of three years from the date of acquisition. Shares held in trust for Executive Directors under the SIP are as follows:
At
31December
2004*

J.G. Abel
R.M. Cable
K.E. Chaldecott
D.A. Fischel
J.I. Saggers
A.C. Smith

1,487
2,263
2,263
2,263
2,263
2,263

Vested

Lapsed

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

Awarded†

–
306
306
306
306
306

Partnership
At
and dividend 31December
shares
2005**

292
322
322
322
322
322

1,779
2,891
2,891
2,891
2,891
2,891

* or date of appointment if later.
** or date of cessation of directorship if earlier.
† SIP shares in respect of the year ended 31 December 2004 awarded in February 2005. Details of SIP shares awarded in respect of the year ended 31 December 2005 are given
on page 72 in the Directors’remuneration report.

CSC 6.875 per cent bonds due 2013
A beneficial interest was held by Sir Donald Gordon of £2,500,000 as at 30 June 2005 (2004 – £2,500,000).
Capital & Counties Limited ordinary shares of 25p each
A non-beneficial interest of 400 shares (2004 – 400) was held by Mr D.A. Fischel.
(b) In share options in the company
The following Directors had options to subscribe for shares in the company:
Year
granted

Option
Held at
price 31 December
pence
2004*

Granted
in year

Held at
Exercised 31 December
in year
2005**

Exercisable between

The Liberty International PLC Incentive Share
Option Scheme 1999
J.G. Abel

2001
2002

512
545

94,141
60,000

–
–

94,141
60,000

–
–

22/02/04–22/02/11
20/02/05–20/02/12

R.M. Cable

2001
2002
2003
2004

512
545
565
698

74,141
50,000
50,000
25,000

–
–
–
–

74,141
50,000
–
–

–
–
50,000
25,000

22/02/04–22/02/11
20/02/05–20/02/12
21/02/06–21/02/13
19/02/07–19/02/14

K.E. Chaldecott

2001
2002
2003
2004

512
545
565
698

74,141
50,000
50,000
25,000

–
–
–
–

74,141
50,000
–
–

–
–
50,000
25,000

22/02/04–22/02/11
20/02/05–20/02/12
21/02/06–21/02/13
19/02/07–19/02/14

D.A. Fischel

1999
2000
2001
2002
2003

475
406
512
545
565

21,000
120,000
100,000
69,496
50,000

–
–
–
–
–

–
120,000
–
–
–

21,000
–
100,000
69,496
50,000

11/08/02–11/08/09
03/03/03–03/03/10
22/02/04–22/02/11
20/02/05–20/02/12
21/02/06–21/02/13

J.I. Saggers

1999
2001
2002
2003

475
512
545
565

17,500
60,000
50,000
34,691

–
–
–
–

17,500
60,000
–
–

–
–
50,000
34,691

11/08/02–11/08/09
22/02/04–22/02/11
20/02/05–20/02/12
21/02/06–21/02/13

A.C. Smith

2000
2001
2002
2003

406
512
545
565

60,000
60,000
50,000
40,000

–
–
–
–

60,000
60,000
–
–

–
–
50,000
40,000

03/03/03–03/03/10
22/02/04–22/02/11
20/02/05–20/02/12
21/02/06–21/02/13

J.G. Abel

2001

512

5,859

–

5,859

–

22/02/04–22/02/11

D.A. Fischel

2002

545

5,504

–

–

5,504

20/02/05–20/02/12

J.I. Saggers

2003

565

5,309

–

–

5,309

21/02/06–21/02/13

The Liberty International PLC Executive Share
Option Scheme 1999

* or date of appointment if later.
**or date of cessation of directorship if earlier.
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37 Directors’ interests continued
(b) In share options in the company continued
Mr A.C. Smith exercised options on 23 March 2005, at a market price of 955p per share, at which time the difference between the exercise price and market
price was in aggregate £595,638. Mr J.G. Abel exercised options on 24 March 2005, at a market price of 957p per share, at which time the difference between
the exercise price and market price was in aggregate £666,390. Mr J.G. Abel also exercised options on 1 April 2005, at a market price of 963p per share, at
which time the difference between the exercise price and market price was in aggregate £26,414. Mr R.M. Cable exercised options on 1 April 2005, at a
market price of 963p per share, at which time the difference between the exercise price and market price was in aggregate £543,169. Mrs K.E. Chaldecott
exercised options on 27 April 2005, at a market price of 930p per share, at which time the difference between the exercise price and market price was in
aggregate £502,054. Mr J.I. Saggers exercised options on 9 June 2005, at a market price of 967p per share, at which time the difference between the exercise
price and market price was in aggregate £358,883. Mr D.A. Fischel exercised options on 11 August 2005, at a market price of 987p per share, at which time
the difference between the exercise price and market price was in aggregate £697,800.
The aggregate gains made by Directors on the exercise of options is £3.4 million (2004 – £1.1 million).
The market price of Liberty International ordinary shares at 31 December 2005 was 980.5p and during the year the price varied between 913p and 1025p.
(c) No Director had any dealings in the shares of any group company between 31 December 2005 and 9 February 2006, being a date less than one month
prior to the date of the notice convening the Annual General Meeting.
Other than as disclosed in these accounts, no Director of the company had a material interest in any contract (other than service contracts), transaction or
arrangement with any group company during the year ended 31 December 2005.
38 Employees’ information

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs (note 39)

2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

26.1
2.4
2.1

24.6
2.5
2.0

30.6

29.1

At 31 December 2005 the number of persons employed was 833 (2004 – 787). The average number of persons employed during the year was:

Liberty International
Capital Shopping Centres
Capital & Counties

2005
Number

2004
Number

83
632
96

80
612
97

811

789

2005
£m

2004
£m

3.9
0.5
0.9

4.1
0.4
0.4

5.3

4.9

Key management* compensation

Salaries and short-term employee benefits
Pensions and other post-employment benefits
Share-based payment

*Key management comprises Executive Directors of Liberty International, Capital Shopping Centres, Capital & Counties, the Company Secretary and the President of
C&C USA Inc.

Share options
Options to subscribe for ordinary shares under the Liberty International Holdings PLC Executive Share Option Scheme 1987, the Liberty International
Holdings PLC Incentive Share Option Scheme 1990, the Liberty International PLC Incentive Share Option Scheme 1999, the Liberty International PLC
Executive Share Option Scheme 1999, and the Capital Shopping Centres PLC Executive Share Option Scheme 1995, were outstanding as set out
on page 59. The vesting period of the options is three years. Exercise is subject to meeting an earnings per share (“EPS”) performance condition.
The performance condition requires smoothed earnings growth equal to or greater than five per cent per annum (or, if greater in any year, 120 per cent
of the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index) over a minimum three-year comparison period.“Smoothed”earnings growth excludes exceptional
and trading profits above a certain level. If the option remains unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire.
Furthermore, options are forfeited if the employee leaves the group before the options vest.
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38 Employees’ information continued
2004

2005

Number

At 1 January
Options granted
Options exercised
Options expired/lapsed

4,425,809
–
(1,923,999)
(71,500)

At 31 December

2,430,310

Weighted
average
exercise
price

551p
511p
581p

Number

Weighted
average
exercise
price

4,681,271
641,932
(697,394)
(200,000)

514p

4,425,809

551p

433p

The weighted average share price during the year was 967.5p (2004 – 788.7p) Of the 2,430,310 outstanding options at 31 December 2005 (2004 – 4,425,809),
947,378 were exercisable (2004 – 353,275).
The options outstanding at 31 December 2005 were exercisable between 331p and 785p per share and have a weighted average remaining contractual life of
8 years.

Date of grant

12 March 1996
18 March 1996
12 March 1999
11 August 1999
3 March 2000
22 February 2001
22 February 2001
20 February 2002
20 February 2002
6 March 2002
6 March 2002
21 February 2003
21 February 2003
19 February 2004
19 February 2004
29 July 2004
29 July 2004
Total

ISOS
ISOS
ESOS
ISOS
ESOS
ISOS
ESOS
ISOS
ESOS
ISOS
ESOS
ISOS
ESOS
ISOS

Scheme

Price per
share
pence

Ordinary
shares
Number

Exercisable between

1995
1987
1990
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999
1999

331.5
331
419
475
406
512
512
545
545
567
567
565
565
698
698
785
785

3,185
1,250
20,000
28,000
45,000
16,858
326,993
21,027
340,356
5,291
139,418
57,080
860,420
34,354
506,078
3,821
21,179

1999 and 2006
1999 and 2006
2002 and 2009
2002 and 2009
2003 and 2010
2004 and 2011
2004 and 2011
2005 and 2012
2005 and 2012
2005 and 2012
2005 and 2012
2006 and 2013
2006 and 2013
2007 and 2014
2007 and 2014
2007 and 2014
2007 and 2014

2,430,310

There were no options granted during 2005. In 2004, options were granted in February and July. The total of the estimated fair values of the options granted
on those dates is £973,300.
The grants have been valued using a binomial option pricing model built by Mercer Human Resource Consulting. The main assumptions are as follows:
Grant date

29 July
2004

19 February
2004

Exercise price (p)
Term (years)
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield p.a.
Risk free rate
Expected forfeiture p.a.

785
10
17%
3.05%
5.07%
5%

698
10
17%
3.05%
4.75%
5%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the group’s share price over multiple time periods since 1995.
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38 Employees’ information continued
The fair values of each of the grants made in 2004, which includes an allowance for forfeiture over the vesting periods but do not include allowance for the
likelihood of achieving the EPS hurdles, are set out below.

Share price at grant date (p)
Fair value per share (p)

29 July
2004

19 February
2004

792
167

721
151

Share awards
Conditional awards of Additional and Restricted shares are made under the company’s annual bonus schemes.
Awards are also made under the company’s Share Incentive Plan (SIP). The SIP shares can be released three years after the date of the award provided the
individual employee has remained in employment but the shares must then be held in trust for a further two years in order to qualify for tax advantages.
The dividend payable in respect of the shares held in trust is used to purchase additional shares, known as Dividend Shares, which are also held in trust.
The Dividend Shares are generally required to be held in trust for a minimum period of three years from the date of the award.
The number of share awards granted in the year as at the date of grant are set out below.

Annual bonus scheme:
SIP
Restricted
Additional

2005
Number

2004
Number

34,065
55,117
44,656

43,861
60,533
52,195

The fair values of share awards were determined by the current market price of the shares at the date of grant.
The number of awards outstanding at 31 December 2005 are shown below.

2002
2003
2004
2005

Annual bonus scheme

SIP

Restricted

Additional

Liberty International
Liberty International
Liberty International
Liberty International

36,032
32,295
38,856
32,853

–
–
56,734
53,335

46,975
44,598
45,975
41,442

140,036

110,069

178,990

Total

A total of 2,394,935 ordinary shares were held by LI Share Plan (Jersey) Limited at 31 December 2005 for the purposes of satisfying the future exercise of
options and provision of shares on maturity of conditional awards under the annual bonus schemes. A further 243,613 shares (including Partnership and
Dividend Shares) are held by Capita IRG Trustees Ltd as trustee for the SIP.
The total expenses for share based payments for the group were £1.6 million (2004 – £1.0 million).
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39 Pensions
(a) Current pension arrangements
The group operates a number of pension schemes in the United Kingdom and the USA, the assets of which are held in separate trustee-administered funds.
The group’s current policy is to largely provide future retirement benefits through defined contribution arrangements. Consequently a number of group
personal pensions were established in 1997/98 for new and some existing employees, and previous schemes closed and, with one exception, wound up.
The group personal pension arrangements were amalgamated into one arrangement in 2005.
The one older arrangement not wound up was the Liberty International Group Retirement Benefit Scheme (“the Scheme”), which was closed to new
members, but continues to accrue future service benefits for those employees who were members at date of closure. It is a funded defined benefit scheme
and is not contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P).
(b) Pension costs
(i) The Scheme – a defined benefit scheme The retirement benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit
obligations, less the fair value of the Scheme assets, adjusted for past service costs. The defined benefit obligation and current service cost are calculated
annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit method. Actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognised in the statement of recognised
income and expense. The pension costs and balance sheet items for the year ended 31 December 2005 have been based on the results of the last interim
valuation of the Scheme at 5 April 2005, suitably adjusted for different methodology, rolled forward to 31 December 2005 and adjusted for the different
financial conditions applying at that time.
Amounts recognised in income in respect of the Scheme
2005
£m

Current service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on Scheme assets

Actuarial losses immediately recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense

2004
Restated
£m

1.0
2.0
(2.3)

0.9
1.9
(2.1)

0.7

0.7

2.6

0.4

Whilst the actuarial losses in respect of the Scheme are dealt with in the statement of recognised income and expense, the difference between the notional
interest cost on Scheme liabilities and the expected return on the Scheme’s assets is included in the group’s net interest cost. For the year ended
31 December 2005 this amounts to a credit of £0.3 million (2004 – £0.2 million). Of the charge for the year, £1.0 million (2004 – £0.9 million) has been
included in administrative expenses.
Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
2005
£m

Fair value of Scheme assets
Present value of Scheme liabilities
Pension liability
The pension liability is included in the balance sheet in provisions for liabilities and charges.

2004
Restated
£m

42.2
(44.0)

36.3
(36.9)

(1.8)

(0.6)
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39 Pensions continued
Movements in the fair value of Scheme assets
2005
£m

2004
Restated
£m

At 1 January
Expected return on Scheme assets
Asset gains
Employer contributions paid
Member contributions paid

36.3
2.3
2.6
2.1
0.2

33.8
2.1
0.8
0.8
0.2

Benefits paid

43.5
(1.3)

37.7
(1.4)

Scheme assets at 31 December

42.2

36.3

The weighted average asset allocations for the year end were as follows:
Asset category:
31 December 31December
2005
2004
%
%

Equities
Hedge fund
Index-linked gilts
Property
Other

43
8
35
8
6

41
9
36
7
7

100

100

2005
£m

2004
£m

At 1 January
Current service cost (including employee contributions)
Interest cost
Actuarial losses

36.9
1.2
2.0
5.2

34.0
1.1
1.9
1.3

Benefits paid

45.3
(1.3)

38.3
(1.4)

Scheme liabilities at 31 December

44.0

36.9

Total
Movements in the present value of Scheme liabilities

The main economic assumptions used to calculate the present value of the Scheme’s liabilities at 31 December were as follows:
31 December 31December
2005
2004
%
%
(per annum) (per annum)

Discount rate
Rate of inflation
Earnings increases
Increases to pensions in payment
Increases to deferred pensions before payment:
left before 1 January 1985
left after 31 December 1984
Expected return on plan assets
Actual return on Scheme assets in the year

4.8
2.8
4.8
2.8

5.3
2.6
4.6
2.6

3.0
2.8
5.8
£4.9m

3.0
2.6
6.2
£2.9.m

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the company considered the current level of expected returns on risk free
investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested
and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected annual return for each asset class was then weighted based on the target asset
allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption for the portfolio with a reduction of 0.3 per cent to allow for investment
expenses. This resulted in the selection of the 5.8 per cent assumption as at 31 December 2005.
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39 Pensions continued
Details of experience adjustments for the year to 31 December:

Fair value of Scheme assets (£m)
Present value of Scheme liabilities (£m)
Deficit in the Scheme (£m)
Difference between the expected and actual return on Scheme assets:
Amount (£m)
Percentage of Scheme assets
Total gains and (losses):
Amount (£m)
Percentage of present value of Scheme liabilities
Experience gains and (losses) on Scheme liabilities:
Amount (£m)
Percentage of the present value of the Scheme liabilities

2005

2004

2003

42.2
(44.0)

36.3
(36.9)

33.8
(34.0)

(1.8)

(0.6)

(0.2)

2.6
6.2%

0.8
2.2%

1.8
5.5%

(2.6)
(5.9%)

(0.5)
(1.4%)

(3.1)
(9.1%)

(1.1)
(2.5%)

(1.0)
(2.8%)

0.9
2.6%

The group has no significant exposure to any other post retirement benefit obligations.
The estimated amounts of contributions expected to be paid to the Scheme during 2006 are £0.7 million.
(ii) Defined contribution arrangements The pension charge in respect of the other schemes are the amounts charged against profits in the year in which
they are incurred. These amount to £1.1 million (2004 – £1.0 million) in respect of the other UK pension schemes and £0.1 million (2004 – £0.1 million) for
the US scheme.
40 Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
As noted within the accounting policies, this is the group’s first annual report prepared in accordance with IFRS. The accounting policies set out in the
release dated 26 July 2005 have been applied in preparing the financial information for the periods ended 31 December 2005, 31 December 2004, and in
the preparation of an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 January 2004 (the group’s date of IFRS transition).
In preparing the opening IFRS balance sheet, the group has adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements prepared in accordance with
UK GAAP. An explanation of how the transition from UK GAAP to IFRS has affected the group’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows
is set out in the following tables and accompanying notes. A full line-by-line reconciliation of the financial position as at 31 December 2004 and the
financial performance for the year then ended is set out in the release dated 26 July 2005.
(a) Reconciliation of net profit – group:
Year ended
31December
2004
Notes
£m

Previously reported – UK GAAP:
Net profit on ordinary activities
Exceptional items

115.7
42.6

Net profit before tax
Taxation charge – recurring
Taxation charge – on exceptional items

158.3
(32.3)
(1.4)

Net profit after tax

124.6

Adjustments to net profit before tax:
Revaluation gains on investment properties previously dealt with in reserves
Movement in fair value of derivative financial instruments
“Recycling”of prior year valuation gains of fixed asset investments into profit on disposal
Additional amortisation upon reallocation to equity of portion of the convertible debt liability
Longer amortisation period for rent free periods and other lease incentives
Defined benefit pension scheme net liability and other employee benefits

1
2
3
4
5
6

336.7
(41.4)
6.6
(4.3)
(0.4)
(0.4)
296.8

Restated – IFRS:
Net profit on ordinary activities
Exceptional items

422.9
32.2

Net profit before tax
Taxation charge – recurring
Taxation charge – on exceptional items

8

455.1
(120.8)
(2.2)

Net profit after tax

7

332.1
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40 Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards continued
(a) Reconciliation of net profit – group: continued
Notes:
1. Under IFRS, gains and losses arising on revaluation of investment properties are recorded as operating income in the Income Statement. For the year ended 31 December
2004, this includes gains previously reported in the revaluation reserve of £337.6 million on the group’s investment properties and £5.6 million on the group’s share of
investment properties of joint ventures, net of £5.5 million revaluation losses on development properties which were not revalued under UK GAAP and £1.0 million lower
gain arising from reclassification of rent free periods (see 5 below). In addition, gains or losses realised on investment properties disposed of during the period are accounted
for as revaluation gains, rather than exceptional items as under UK GAAP. The effect of this for the year ended 31 December 2004 is a reclassification from exceptional items to
revaluation gains of £17.0 million. Other reclassifications which offset within net profit in respect of finance-leased assets and letting costs are also included within revaluation
gains on investment properties (see note 7a and 7c below).
2. Under IFRS, derivative financial instruments are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with gains or losses arising on revaluation dealt with in the Income Statement unless
they are eligible to be accounted for as hedges. This does not affect the underlying cash flows.
3. Under IFRS, exceptional gains or losses on disposal of fixed asset investments are calculated by reference to their historic cost. Any previous revaluation surpluses are “recycled”
into the profit on disposal, with a corresponding adjustment to the revaluation reserve.
4. Under IFRS, convertible debt is required to be allocated between debt and equity (see 12). The debt element is initially less than the nominal value of the bond and must
therefore be amortised up to full nominal value over the term of the instrument, resulting in an additional tax-deductible finance charge.
5. Under IFRS, investment property lease rent free periods, stepped rents and other incentives are amortised over the full lease term rather than the period to first open market
rent review (see 13). To the extent that any unamortised incentives have been taken into account in the property valuation, for example rent free periods recognised as income
ahead of invoicing, the property valuation must be adjusted to avoid double counting (see below).
6. Under IFRS, the group is required to account for the net liability or asset in respect of defined benefit pension schemes. Whilst the actuarial gains and losses in respect of the
scheme are dealt with in the statement of recognised income and expense, the difference between the notional interest cost on scheme liabilities and the expected return on
the scheme assets is included in the group’s net interest cost. In respect of the year ended 31 December 2004, this amounts to a credit of £0.2 million. Further, IFRS requires
the group to account for the cost of share-based payments at their fair value rather than intrinsic value. This increases administration expenses for the year ended 31 December
2004 by £0.5 million.
7. Other adjustments have been necessary to the group’s reported financial performance which offset within net profit.
a. Investment properties held leasehold are treated as finance-leased assets, with the minimum element of future head rent payments treated as if it relates to a loan which
is financing an increased interest in the property (see 17a). The fixed head rental payment is largely treated as a finance cost instead of a property expense.
For the year ended 31 December 2004, this decreases rental expenses by £4.0 million, increases net interest cost by £3.6 million and decreases fair value gains on
investment property by £0.4 million.
b. Under UK GAAP the group was required to show its share of the operating profit of joint ventures as a separate line on the profit and loss account. Under IFRS joint
ventures are proportionally consolidated, with the group’s share of individual gains and losses of the joint venture included on the relevant line of the Income Statement.
For the year ended 31 December 2004 this increases rental income by £8.0 million and removes the line item “share of operating profit of joint ventures”.
c. Under IFRS, letting costs of developments and investment properties are capitalised over the lease term whereas under UK GAAP the former were capitalised and the
latter were written off as incurred. For the year ended 31 December 2004, this increases fair value gains on investment property and rental expenses, each by £4.0 million.
8. The principal changes in the tax charge for the year ended 31 December 2004 are as follows:
UK GAAP Adjustments
£m
£m

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Current United Kingdom corporation tax at 30%
Effects of:
Capital allowances not reversing on sale
Disposals of properties and subsidiaries
Prior year items
Expenses disallowed, net of capitalised interest
Untaxed dividends
Overseas taxation, including joint ventures
Tax charge for the year

IFRS
£m

158.3

296.8

455.1

47.5

89.0

136.5

(2.2)
(10.5)
(2.5)
1.9
(1.2)
0.7

–
1.9
0.1
(1.6)
–
(0.1)

33.7

89.3

123.0

31December
2004
Notes
£m

1 January
2004
£m

(2.2)
(8.6)
(2.4)
0.3
(1.2)
0.6

(b) Reconciliation of equity – group:

Previously reported – UK GAAP
Deferred tax on revaluation of investment properties
Fair value of derivative financial instruments
Exclusion of provision for proposed dividend
Reallocation to equity of a portion of the convertible debt liability
Longer amortisation period for lease incentives – long-term debtor
Longer amortisation period for lease incentives – adjust property valuation
Fair value of development properties
Defined benefit pension scheme net liability and other employee benefits
Owner-occupied property held under finance lease
Tax effect of the above

9
10
11
12
13
13
14
15
16

3,244.0
(653.8)
(132.3)
44.7
14.5
50.6
(44.0)
(11.4)
(2.0)
(0.3)
24.2

2,859.4
(549.9)
(89.5)
41.8
18.9
50.3
(42.3)
(5.8)
(1.3)
(0.4)
7.7

Restated – IFRS

17

2,534.2

2,288.9
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40 Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards continued
(b) Reconciliation of net equity – group: continued
Notes:
9. Under IAS 12, provision is made for the deferred tax liability associated with the revaluation of investment properties, whereas UK GAAP requires that the potential liability
on the sale of the properties be disclosed as contingent tax but not provided in the balance sheet. This liability will not be incurred while the group continues to hold its
property assets.
10. Under IFRS, derivative financial instruments are carried in the balance sheet at fair value. This does not affect the underlying cash flows. The total fair value recognised as a
liability at 31 December 2004 is £132.3 million (1 January 2004 – £89.5 million), which is partially offset by a deferred tax asset of £39.7 million (1 January 2004 – £26.9 million).
11. Under IFRS, proposed dividends are not recognised as liabilities at the balance sheet date. Accordingly, compared with UK GAAP, equity shareholders’funds have increased,
and current liabilities have decreased.
12. Under IFRS, convertible debt is required to be allocated between debt and equity. The debt element is initially less than the nominal value of the bond and must therefore
be amortised up to full nominal value over the term of the instrument, resulting in an additional tax-deductible finance charge. The equity element is not remeasured during
the term of the instrument. The effect of this is to reduce borrowings by £14.5 million and to reduce the tax liability by £1.5 million at 31 December 2004 (1 January 2004 –
£18.9 million and £0.2 million).
13. Under IFRS, investment property lease rent free periods, stepped rents and other incentives are amortised over the full lease term rather than the period to first open market
rent review. To the extent that any unamortised incentives have been taken into account in the property valuation, for example rent free periods recognised as income ahead
of invoicing, the property valuation must be adjusted to avoid double counting. The effect of this at 31 December 2004 is to reduce the value of investment property by
£44.0 million, increase debtors due in more than one year by £47.8 million, increase debtors due within one year by £2.8 million and increase the provision for deferred
tax by £1.4 million (1 January 2004 – £42.3 million, £47.9 million, £2.4 million and £2.0 million).
14. Under IFRS, investment properties under redevelopment remain classified as investment properties subject to revaluation through the Income Statement in accordance
with IAS 40. The effect of this at 31 December 2004 is to reduce development properties by £11.4 million and reduce the deferred tax liability by £3.4 million (1 January 2004 –
£5.8 million and £1.7 million). Properties acquired with the intention of development are classified as properties in the course of development and are accounted for at fair
value in accordance with IAS 16.Valuation changes for the latter properties are recognised in equity rather than the Income Statement.
15. Under IFRS, the group is required to account for the net liability or asset in respect of defined benefit pension schemes and any corresponding deferred tax asset or liability.
At 31 December 2004, the adjustment to the net scheme liability was £1.2 million with a deferred tax asset of £0.4 million (1 January 2004 – £1.0 million and £0.3 million).
Further, IFRS requires the group to account for the cost of share-based payments at their fair value rather than intrinsic value. This increases accruals by £0.8 million at
31 December 2004, partially offset by a tax credit of £0.2 million (1 January 2004 – £0.3 million and £0.1 million).
16. Under IFRS, the leased property occupied by the group is classified as a finance-leased asset and as such it increases fixed assets by £0.3 million, net of cumulative
depreciation. The minimum lease payments are included as a creditor of £0.6 million.
17. Other adjustments have been necessary to the group’s reported financial position which offset within net assets and therefore do not affect equity:
a. Investment properties held leasehold are still valued at the fair value of the group’s interest, but under IFRS the minimum element of future head rent payments is treated
as if it relates to a loan which is financing an increased interest in the property. The capitalised value of the minimum payment is reflected by grossing up the carrying value
of the property with an equal and opposite amount included as a creditor. The fixed head rental payment is largely treated as a finance cost instead of a property expense.
At 31 December 2004, this increased investment property and creditors by £31.9 million, with £4.0 million of the creditor falling due within one year (1 January 2004 –
£32.3 million and £4.0 million).
b. Under UK GAAP the group was required to show its share of the gross assets and gross liabilities of joint ventures separately on the balance sheet. Under IFRS joint
ventures are proportionally consolidated, with the group’s share of individual assets and liabilities of the joint venture included on the relevant line of the balance sheet.
At 31 December 2004 this increases investment property by £14.9 million, trading properties by £13.5 million, cash by £0.4 million, creditors due within one year by
£1.2 million and borrowings by £7.3 million, removing the £20.3 million group’s share of net assets of joint ventures (1 January 2004 – investment property £132.6 million,
trading property £10.6 million, working capital £0.2 million and borrowings £69.3 million).
c. Under IFRS, letting costs are capitalised and amortised over the lease term (see 7c). The effect of this is to increase investment property cost and correspondingly reduce
revaluation by £11.4 million (1 January 2004 – £32.1 million and £4.0 million).

(c) Cash flows – group
Under IFRS, the consolidated cash flow statement reconciles the movements in cash and cash equivalents, whereas in the last audited UK GAAP financial
statements it reconciled the movements in cash only. Other than this, there are no material differences in the restated consolidated statement of cash flows
from that previously published.
(d) Reconciliation of equity – company

Notes

Previously reported – UK GAAP
Exclusion of revaluation of investments
Exclusion of provision for proposed dividend received
Exclusion of provision for proposed dividend paid
Reallocation to equity of a portion of the convertible debt liability
Defined benefit pension scheme net liability and other employee benefits
Tax effect of the above
Restated – IFRS

11
12
15
17

31December
2004
£m

1 January
2004
£m

3,244.0
(920.8)
(392.1)
44.7
14.5
(2.0)
2.1

2,859.4
(875.8)
(86.9)
41.8
18.9
(1.3)
0.5

1,990.4

1,956.6

